
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor R Lees
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor B Garden Councillor D Page
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor R J Wells
Councillor M B Kelly

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 20 March 2018

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 20 March 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 12 December 2017 (Pages 1 - 10)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 11 - 14)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 February 2018 to 30 June 2018. 

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 12 December 2017 (Pages 15 - 20)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 12 December 2017. 

8. Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust (Pages 21 - 22) SD (IS)
To receive an update on the work of the Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust. 

9. Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group (Pages 23 - 24)

SD (IS)

To receive an update on the progress being made within the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group. 

10. Dartford Borough Parking Overview (Pages 25 - 68) SD (ES)
This report presents the current Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document for consideration. 



11. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report (Pages 69 - 88)

SD (IS)

This report presents a progress update for the latest set of Corporate 
Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2017-18. 

12. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 89 - 92) SD (IS)
This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan. 



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 12 
December 2017 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell (Substitute for Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE)
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor M A Maddison (Substitute for Councillor D Page)
Councillor T A Maddison (Substitute for Councillor Dr B K Kaini)
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds (Substitute for Councillor P F Coleman)
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor D Page
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Mrs Patricia 
Chapman

– Dartford Borough Residents Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External Services)
Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Kashmir Powar – Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator
Nick Scott – Head of Revenues and Benefits

25. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P F Coleman, R M 
Currans, B Garden, B K Kaini, J A Ozog, D Page and A Sandhu, MBE.

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

2

27. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 19 SEPTEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 19 
September 2017 be confirmed.

28. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

29. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

30. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 20 November 
2017 to 31 March 2018, be noted.

31. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 19 SEPTEMBER 2017 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017.

Health Funding in Dartford

Members were advised that a response had yet to be received to the emails 
that had been sent to the NHS Trust and Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and agreed that they should be chased 
for a response.

Funding for the Minor Ailments Scheme

Members were advised that a response had yet to be received to the letter 
that had been sent to the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and agreed that a chasing letter should be sent.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held 
on 19 September 2017 be noted.

2. That the NHS Trust and CCG be chased for a response to the letter 
and emails that have been sent.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

3

32. UPDATE ON THE BENEFIT CAP, UNIVERSAL CREDIT AND WELFARE 
REFORMS AFFECTING HOUSING BENEFIT AND COUNCIL TAX 
REDUCTION 

This report provided Members with an update on the Benefit Cap, Universal 
Credit (UC) and Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Reduction.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits noted how Dartford was currently in the 
‘live service’ phase of UC implementation and said that this would be followed 
by the ‘full service’ phase, and then a migration phase where existing housing 
benefit claimants would be transferred to UC. He then noted how, following 
the Government’s 2017 Budget announcements, from 31 December 2017 the 
‘live service’ was to be suspended pending the introduction of the ‘full service’ 
and that new applicants would be assessed for housing benefit in the 
meantime. He also noted how ‘full service’ commencement for Dartford had 
been rescheduled from May 2018 to July 2018 and drew Members’ attention 
to the national status and associated impacts documented in the report.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then referred to other announcements 
that had been made during the Government’s 2017 Budget and the intention 
to ease the financial pressures being placed on new claimants by giving them 
the ability to receive 1 month’s worth of UC within 5 days of an application, 
which then has to be repaid over 12 months rather than 6. He also noted the 
two week overlap of housing benefit and UC payments and the fact that it will 
be easier for claimants to have the housing element of their UC paid directly 
to their landlord, which will help Councils with housing stock as it reduces the 
likelihood of rent arrears.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then highlighted the issues that had 
been raised by East Kent Services, where the full UC service had already 
gone live, and drew Members’ attention to the ‘digital by default’ concerns that 
had been raised and said that claimants are expected to manage their UC 
account online and use this interface to report rent increases and other 
changes which may impact the amount of UC that they are due to receive. He 
said that this could cause problems for those who have little or no online 
experience. He also referred to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) claims and the 
impact that the need for it to be recalculated every time a claimant’s UC 
entitlement is changed was having on Council Tax recovery. He also noted 
the other issues that had been listed and said that Dartford was part of a UC 
Working Group which met regularly to discuss and share concerns and 
propose solutions.

The Chairman was heartened to hear that a Working Group had been 
established and welcomed the ability for UC claimants to have the housing 
element of their award paid directly to their landlord, an issue that had 
previously been raised and pursued by the Committee. He then asked what 
help was available to those who might find it difficult to manage their claim 
online. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that this service would not 
be provided by the Revenues and Benefits team but said that the Council’s 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

4

Housing, Energy and Retraining Options (HERO) team would be able to 
provide support if required.

In response to a question related to staffing levels the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits replied that UC was placing no additional pressure on staff at the 
moment, but anticipated that this might change as the number of claimants 
being transferred to UC ramps up. He noted how the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) provided some funding, but was unsure whether this 
would be adequate to also provide the additional local UC related support that 
would be required.

Members further discussed the additional support that may be required as the 
‘full service’ is rolled out and asked whether there was a view on how this 
support was to be delivered and co-ordinated as it was important that those 
experiencing difficulties do not get lost in the system and end up being made 
homeless and thus becoming a responsibility of the Council. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) replied that the Council’s own tenants could ask 
for support from the HERO team but said that others would be signposted to 
agencies such as the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB). The Chairman noted the 
various forums that exist for landlords and tenants and hoped that these 
forums would be used to disseminate UC related information and advice. The 
Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the Council had no 
overarching responsibility but, if approached, would signpost those requiring 
help with UC or debt management to agencies that can provide assistance. 
The Head of Revenues and Benefits referred to a Revenues and Benefits 
Forum and said that it included representatives from Housing, the CAB and 
other associated agencies and had received presentations from Jobcentre 
managers. He then said that he would confirm that Dartford had 
representation on this Forum and would provide an overview of the Forum’s 
remit. The Chairman asked that this information be circulated to all Committee 
members.

In response to a question on the time taken to reactivate the UC account of a 
claimant who has failed to maintain their account correctly the Head of 
Revenues and Benefits replied that this information would only be known by 
the DWP and said that he was unaware of any associated figures having 
been released. He also commented that the closing of an account under any 
circumstances would be a cause for concern.

Having noted the intention to suspend the ‘live service’ at the end of the year 
Members asked whether the Council would know how many of the claims 
received after 1 January 2018 may have been previous UC claimants. The 
Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that because the Council would 
receive each as a new claim it would not be possible to ascertain how many 
fell into this category.

It was then asked whether there was any information available on the time it 
takes for a claimant to complete the steps that are required prior to formally 
submitting a UC claim (at which point the maximum 6 weeks to payment 
starts). Reference was also made to the process that has to be followed when 
making a claim and the fact that it can be very confusing for someone when 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

5

they are faced with the various forms that have to be filled in and conditions 
that have to be met. It was suggested that there was a need for an overall 
explanation of the process that has to be followed in order for a claim to be 
successful. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that statistics relating 
to the time it takes to prepare a claim were unavailable and said that it was 
DWP’s responsibility to provide UC guidance. He also noted how advice that 
had been published on the DWP’s website following the Government’s Budget 
announcement had been incorrect. He said that there was always a risk that 
some of those who are eligible for UC may drop out of the process before an 
award is made.

The relationship between UC and the Council Tax Reduction scheme was 
also discussed and the Head of Revenues and Benefits advised that as the 
number of people in the area on UC at the moment was minimal the potential 
impact on the recovery of Council Tax could not be predicted.

Reference was then made to one of the issues highlighted by East Kent 
Services which related to the increasing cost of temporary accommodation 
and homelessness support, and it was suggested that, following the 
introduction of the Government’s Homelessness Reduction Act, the Council 
should be looking to put further measures in place to prevent homelessness. 
It was also asked whether any modelling had been done to assess the impact 
that UC may have on the numbers of people presenting themselves to the 
Council as homeless. The Head of Revenues and Benefits noted how 
homelessness was managed by another department and confirmed that no 
homelessness related modelling had been carried out. He also noted that the 
extent of the issue that had been raised by East Kent Services had not been 
quantified.

In response to a question the Head of Revenues and Benefits confirmed that 
the support provided by the HERO team included help for those experiencing 
problems with online access. Members referred to the number of people that 
had engaged with the HERO service during the past year and anticipated that 
this would increase as the full UC service is rolled out. The Strategic Director 
(External Services) said that they would be looking to increase the number of 
HERO resources available to address potential homelessness and confirmed 
that funding for the service came from various sources.

Members noted the issues and responsibilities that UC claimants who are in 
work, or are looking for work, may face and said that this category of person 
may also require additional support. It was then noted how Discretionary 
Housing Payments (DHPs) were being used to help those who find 
themselves in financial difficulty and it was questioned whether this funding 
stream could be guaranteed in the future and whether it would be maintained 
at the current level. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that DHP 
funding had been increased over a number of years to help Local Authorities 
assist those claimants affected by welfare reform but he could not predict 
whether funding levels were likely to rise or fall in the future.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

6

The Chairman thanked the Head of Revenues and Benefits and, having noted 
that the ‘full’ UC service was due to go live in Dartford in May 2018, invited 
him to return in June 2018 to provide a further update.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mr Scott be thanked for attending the meeting and responding to 
Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Mr Scott be noted.

3. That Mr Scott be invited back to provide a further update to the 
Committee at their June 2018 meeting.

33. DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL REPORT 
2016/17 

This report updated the Committee on the results being achieved through the 
running of Preventative Health Projects in the Borough. It also noted how 
these projects were addressing the priorities identified in the Health 
Inequalities Action Plan, for the financial year 2016/17.

Members referred to the funding risk identified in the report and asked how 
the delivery of project outcomes was being monitored. The Healthy Living Co-
ordinator replied that quarterly reports are submitted to Kent Public Health 
and that Key Performance Indicators and targets are defined for areas such 
as family or adult weight management. She then added that current 
performance monitoring showed that services were meeting the targets that 
had been set. The Strategic Director (External Services) also noted how 
project delivery was a collaborative venture and said that any concerns that 
are identified are discussed together in order that they may be addressed.

In response to a further question relating to the budgetary pressures being 
faced by Kent County Council and the potential for reduced Public Health 
funding the Strategic Director (External Services) said that the Council had 
received confirmation that the grant for the Healthy Living Co-ordinator post 
was to continue at least until 31 March 2019, which was for a longer period of 
time than had been specified in previous years. She said that it was good to 
receive this confirmation and would enable existing preventative health 
related initiatives to continue.

The Chairman then referred to the ‘Dartford Today’ notification system and 
said that he hadn’t received any associated emails recently and noted how 
useful the service was to those Councillors who like to involve themselves in 
activities that take place in Dartford. Officers agreed to investigate delivery of 
the service and report back to Members.

Reference was made to the recorded number of attendances at different 
events and it was suggested that it would also be useful to know the number 
of unique attendees, as some people may attend more than once. This would 
enable the reach of a particular initiative to be gauged more accurately. The 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

7

Healthy Living Co-ordinator agreed to add this to future Annual Reports. The 
Chairman also felt that, given the amount of informative information contained 
in the Annual Report, it should be made available to all Members.

Members then asked whether it would be possible to gauge the impact that 
preventative health work has on health inequality. In response the Strategic 
Director (External Services) noted how the Council had a Service Level 
Agreement with Kent Public Health and said that it defined how initiatives 
were to be delivered and took account of the Health Inequality Action Plan. 
With respect to monitoring she said that the impact of preventative health 
work on health inequality would be difficult to measure but said that the 
annual levels of project engagement, and the results being achieved in areas 
where health inequality was known to exist, could be used to indicate whether 
the projects being carried out were likely to address health inequality in the 
long term.

Members felt that it would be useful to see the Health Inequality Action Plan at 
the same time as the Preventative Health Project Annual Report to enable the 
relationship between health inequality and preventative health work to be 
explored. The Strategic Director (External Director) noted how the Committee 
had been provided with a copy of the Health Inequalities Action Plan after its 
last review and said that it was monitored by the Dartford Health Inequalities 
Group. She also agreed to include it as part of the agenda when the 
Preventative Health Project Annual Report is next considered.

Reference was made to the Health and Wellness classes that are held at the 
Fairfield Leisure Centre and the fact that some surgeries charge for the GP 
referral letter that is required in order for someone to take part. In response 
the Healthy Living Co-ordinator confirmed that some surgeries charge for this 
service whereas others do not and said that Public Health had been asked to 
investigate this further. The Chairman asked to be kept informed and offered 
the Committee’s support if further pressure was required to resolve this 
discrepancy.

In response to a question relating to ‘social gradients’ the Healthy Living Co-
ordinator explained that it referred to areas of deprivation and the fact that 
projects are run in those areas in order to try and reduce the health 
inequalities that have been shown to exist when compared with less deprived 
areas of the Borough.

Members thanked officers and welcomed the clear and informative way that 
preventative health related project progress had been reported.

RESOLVED:

1. That Ms Powar be thanked for attending the meeting and responding to 
Members’ questions.

2. That the outcomes and progress that have been made on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2016/17 be noted.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

8

3. That consideration of the Annual Report on Dartford Preventative 
Health Projects 2017/18, together with the associated Health Inequality 
information, be added to the Work Plan for December 2018.

34. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

This report described the progress being made with latest set of Corporate 
Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 2017-18.

The Chairman referred to the food hygiene related indicator and asked how 
the inspection shortfall was being addressed. The Strategic Director (External 
Services) replied that duties had been reallocated across the team so that the 
staff vacancy could be recruited at a lower level. She also noted how the 
original vacancy had been ‘health and safety’ related and that, as this role is 
well remunerated in the private sector, it had been difficult to fill. She also 
advised that, as at the end of November, the inspections due and completed 
indicator had improved to 92%.

Reference was then made to the fly-tipping incident indicator and the 
Strategic Director (External Services) said that this parameter should not have 
a related target because the Council has no control over the number of 
incidents that occur and can only act in a responsive way when required. She 
also then highlighted an associated pilot project that had been started with 
Stone Parish Council, who had purchased a CCTV system which enabled 
them to monitor areas where fly-tipping was known to take place and said that 
any evidence gathered would be analysed by the Council’s enforcement team 
who would progress prosecution if the offender could be identified. She also 
advised that the pilot would run for 6 months and said that, if successful, it 
would be suggested as a way of discouraging fly-tipping to other Parish 
Councils.

The Chairman noted how two other indicators showing an alert status had 
also included a statement on the action being taken to address the underlying 
issues and asked that this practice be extended to all indicators that show an 
alert.

In response to a question on the percentage of repairs completed on time the 
Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the monitoring of urgent 
and non-urgent repairs had been combined into a single indicator because 
they had both previously been monitored against the same target percentage. 
She also referred to the high number of repairs that were being carried out 
and said that urgent repairs would always take priority over non-urgent 
repairs.

Members referred to the bid for funding that had been made to the One Public 
Estates Programme to bring forward plans for a health hub on the former Co-
op site and, having noted that a decision was expected in December 2017, 
asked whether the results of the bid had been announced. The Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) replied that an announcement was expected soon 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

9

and agreed to provide the Committee with an update as soon as the 
information became available.

Reference was made to the ‘boy racer’ problems that were being experienced 
at Crossways Boulevard, Greenhithe and it was suggested that, as similar 
problems exist along Princes Road, a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) 
should be considered for this area too. The Strategic Director (External 
Services) agreed to take this forward for consideration. 

Members questioned the ‘December 2017’ date quoted in the report for the 
publishing of the OJEU notice for the new waste collection contract as the 
associated exercise to ascertain residents’ preferred service option was still 
taking place. The Strategic Director (External Services) replied that the report 
had been prepared before the scope of the consultation had been agreed and 
said that the date for the publishing of the OJUE notice had since been moved 
to the new year.

Members noted a typographical error at the end of the last sentence of the 
update relating to the need to ‘include community facilities as part of major 
new developments’ where ‘out in place’ should have read ‘put in place’.

In response to a question relating to the ongoing repairs to the Civic Centre 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised that the planned works for 
this year had been included in a report that had been considered by Cabinet 
on the 29 June 2017, and that further works would be scheduled for the next 
financial year.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports, attached at Appendices A and B to the report, be noted.

35. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

The Chairman confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during the consideration of previous agenda items:

 Welfare Reform Update – June 2018
 Dartford Preventative Health Projects – Annual Report 2017/18 – 

December 2018
 Dartford Health Inequality Review – December 2018

The Chairman also noted that Andrew Scott Clark, Director for Public Health, 
had been scheduled to attend this meeting and asked, with the Committee’s 
agreement, for his visit to be rescheduled for December 2018 to coincide with 
the next consideration of the Preventative Health projects that are being 
carried out in the Borough.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

10

It was noted that consideration of the fly-tipping and bulk waste collection 
services was scheduled for June 2018 and it was suggested that it might be 
better to consider them earlier given that the scope of the waste collection 
service after June 2019 was currently being reviewed prior to the formal 
tendering of the associated contract. The Strategic Director (External 
Services) said that these services could be considered earlier but advised that 
these aspects of waste management would not impact the scope of the tender 
because the bulk waste collection service is paid for by residents, and fly-tip 
waste removal was a service which sends squads out to deal with each fly-
tipping incident, both of which could be operated in the same way irrespective 
of the contractor that gets chosen.

The Chairman noted the number of items already scheduled for the March 
meeting and said that he would prefer to leave the Work Plan as currently 
specified and undertake a review if another item needed to be rescheduled.

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the minuted additions above, be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.23 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN



15 February 2018 - 30 June 2018

1 of 4

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2018/19

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2018/19, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2018/19, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2018/19, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2018/19 and to determine sundry 
related matters.

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
26 Feb 2018

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January - mainly via 
website.

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Homeless Strategy 2018

To agree an updated version of the 
Council’s Homeless Strategy.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

Stakeholders and 
residents to be 
consulted through an 
on-line survey.

Jackie Pye, Housing Policy 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343683
jacqueline.pye@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Refuse Collection and Street 
Cleaning Contract

To advise Cabinet of the results of 
the third Big Bin Vote and to 
consequently recommend a revised 
plan for the procurement of the next 
contract for refuse collection and 
street cleaning.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

Residents have already 
been consulted via the 
third Big Bin Vote.

Dave Thomas, Waste & Parks 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343273
dave.thomas@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



3 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Howbury Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchange

To consider resourcing of the 
Council’s case at Public Inquiry.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of 
Regeneration
Tel: 01322 343631
teresa.ryszkowska@dartford.gov.
uk

CLOSED - the report 
is exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended).

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
12 Apr 2018

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



4 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
12 Apr 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 12 DECEMBER 2017

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
12 December 2017 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for a more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 12 
December 2017 be noted and that the Committee consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next meeting, for more detailed 
discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 At their meeting on 19 September 2017, having 

considered the letter that had been received from 
NHS England in response to a letter that had been 
sent highlighting the funding concerns that had been 
raised by Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) at the Committee’s 
meeting in March 2017, Members asked that the local 
Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Trust’s views 
on NHS England’s response be ascertained and that a 
further letter of concern be sent to NHS England.

The CCG and NHS Trust have been approached and 
asked to comment but so far have yet to reply.

As a representative from the CCG is scheduled to 
attend this meeting the Chairman has agreed that he 
be asked for his views on the approach that should be 
taken to further raise the issue of funding with NHS 
England.

Adrian Gowan

2 At their meeting on 19 September 2017, during 
consideration of the item on Pharmacy Services, it 
was noted that pharmacy funding support for the 
Minor Ailments Scheme had been withdrawn. 
Members asked that asked that a letter be written to 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group asking why this funding support 
had been withdrawn and whether they had assessed 
the potential impacts of their decision.

Adrian Gowan



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

A copy of the letter received in response is attached at 
Appendix A.

3 At their meeting on 12 December 2017, during 
consideration of the item on welfare reform, the Head 
of Revenues and Benefits agreed to provide Members 
with further information relating to the membership 
and remit of the Dartford and Sevenoaks Benefits 
Forum.

The information subsequently provided was 
distributed to all Committee members.

Nick Scott

4 At the meeting held on 12 December 2017 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a welfare 
reform related update from the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits, asked that he be invited to return in June 
2018 to provide a further update to the Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

5 At their meeting on 12 December 2017, during 
consideration of the item on Dartford Preventative 
Health Projects, the Healthy Living Co-ordinator 
agreed to investigate the status of the ‘Dartford Today’ 
email messaging service and report back to Members.

The information subsequently provided was 
distributed to all Committee members.

Kashmir Powar

6 At their meeting on 12 December 2017, during 
consideration of the item on Dartford Preventative 
Health Projects, the Healthy Living Co-ordinator 
agreed to provide Members with a list of those GP 
practices that charge for the referral letter that is 
required by those who wish to attend the Health and 
Wellbeing classes that are held at Fairfield Leisure 
Centre.

The information subsequently provided was 
distributed to all Committee members.

Kashmir Powar

7 At the meeting held on 12 December 2017 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having considered the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects Annual Report 2016/17, 
asked that consideration of the Annual Report for 
2017/18, together with associated Health Inequality 
information, be scheduled for December 2018.

Alan Stoneham



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

8 At their meeting on 12 December 2017, during 
consideration of the item which presented the 
Corporate Plan performance indicators, Members 
asked to be advised of the outcome of the bid that had 
been made to the One Public Estate (OPE) 
programme for funding to bring forward plans for a 
health hub on the former Co-op site.

The information subsequently provided by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) was distributed 
to all Committee members.

Sarah Martin

9 At the meeting held on 12 December 2017 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having noted that Director for 
Public Health had been unable to attend, asked that 
his visit be rescheduled for December 2018.

The meeting has been added to the Director of Public 
Health’s diary and the Work Plan has been updated 
accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrates improvement.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The letter that was received in response to the letter that was 
sent to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST

1. Summary

1.1  To receive an update on the work of the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information provided by the Interim Chief Executive of the Dartford 
and Gravesham NHS Trust be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 21 March 2017 the Committee received an update 
from Susan Acott, the Chief Executive of the Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust, on the work of the Trust and its future direction (Min No 
47). At the conclusion of the item the Chairman invited Mrs Acott to 
return in a year’s time to provide the Committee with a further update.

3.2. As Mrs Acott has currently been seconded to the East Kent Hospitals 
University NHS Foundation Trust as Interim Chief Executive, Gerard 
Sammon (the Interim Chief Executive of Dartford and Gravesham NHS 
Trust) will be attending this meeting in order to update Members on the 
services that the Trust provides, and highlight any new initiatives that 
have been introduced in the past year, or are being planned for the 
future.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices
          
          None.
 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP

1. Summary

1.1 To receive an update on progress being made within the Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGSCCG).

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information provided by the Company Secretary & Assistant 
Accountable Officer from Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 21 March 2017 (Min No 47) the Policy Overview 
Committee received a briefing from DGSCCG’s Company Secretary & 
Assistant Accountable Officer. At the end of the briefing, which was 
well received by Members, the Chairman had said that he felt that it 
was important for Members to maintain the close relationship that they 
had with the CCG and invited him to return and provide a further 
update to the Committee in a year’s time.

3.2. Mike Gilbert, Company Secretary & Assistant Accountable Officer, from 
DSGCCG will therefore be attending this meeting to further update to 
Members on the progress being made with respect to their 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), together with an 
overview of any other issues and initiatives that are likely to impact 
Dartford residents.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director
(Internal Services)

N/A



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

DARTFORD BOROUGH PARKING OVERVIEW

1. Summary

1.1 This report outlines the current situation with regards to parking requirements 
and standards in the Borough through the Parking Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD).

1.2 This report also looks at how these standards are applied throughout the 
Borough across recent developments. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Note that the compliance of parking provision with agreed standards continues 
to be monitored in new developments. 

2.2 Note that the use and performance of parking provision in new developments 
and emerging trends continues to be monitored. 

3. Background and Discussion

Background

3.1. Patterns of vehicle parking observed in the Borough relate to many 
factors. These include personal behaviours and preferences, transport 
(changeable levels of car ownership etc, realistic alternative means of 
travel), parking provision (public car parks and on-street parking and how 
they are controlled / regulated and potential charges/ penalties), and the 
shape of the built environment (accounting for the impact of local 
characteristics such as streets, off road parking and type/form of 
housing).  

3.2. On the latter point, most streets and properties are already well 
established - even in a growing Borough - and may even have been built 
before widespread car ownership occurred. But public and private 
decisions change how the environment is used. This can be trends in 
how individuals behave/ travel or through direct regulation of parking and 
car use. Insofar as new developments are concerned, where planning 
permission is required, the provision of adequate car parking etc. is an 
instrumental part of ensuring proposals are well designed and suitable. 
Meeting parking needs should ideally be done in a form that avoids 
adverse impacts on the ability of developments to provide other 
infrastructure and to contribute positively to local character. 

3.3. A guidance document has been produced to inform decisions where 
planning proposals have been put to the Council: the Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted in April 2012. 
This document provides guidance to planning applicants on the 
provision of parking spaces in new development. The guidance covers 
the amount of parking to be provided, as well as design and 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

management issues. It is used in the assessment of planning 
applications in determining whether appropriate provision is being made. 
Each planning application is determined on its own merit as a whole 
proposal in line with planning law and national policy, and as the official 
local guidance document the SPD provides specific local advice on 
parking matters.

3.4. Kent County Council is the primary local highway authority. The previous 
parking planning standards that were used by the Council were the 
County Council’s standards through the Kent Vehicle Parking Standards 
(updated in 2008). Guided by national policy then applicable, these 
standards provided maximum standards for car parking in urban 
locations (town centre and edge of centre), and minimum standards 
elsewhere.  It also provided maximum goods vehicle and car parking 
standards for non-residential developments.

3.5. However, the Council’s Core Strategy Local Plan (2011) outlined in 
Policy CS15 that the Council was to develop a Car Parking SPD to 
replace the County Council provisions and reflect new government 
policy. Following public consultation, this resulted in the current SPD.

Current SPD parking standards

3.6. The Council’s Parking Standards SPD sets out a bespoke approach to 
parking in the Borough, taking into account local circumstances and the 
Borough’s needs. It should be noted that due to these standards being 
adopted in 2012, and the initially low levels of planning applications at 
this time due to the economic recession and aftermath, there has been 
a lag time in seeing developments come forward with parking in line with 
the current SPD. Benefits are now being seen in the most recent 
developments: granted planning permission after April 2012 (and in line 
with the new standards).

3.7. The SPD standards outline the key issues and design requirements that 
developers should take into consideration, and provides parking 
standards (by use class) for vehicles, cycles and 
motorcycles/scooters/mopeds, and for people with impaired mobility. 
The SPD also sets out car and van parking bay sizes, and minimum size 
requirements for garages, car barns and car ports. This tackles the 
problem seen elsewhere and on some older new-build developments of 
garages constructed of insufficient size to be used for by any vehicle.

3.8. The SPD aims to both accommodate residents (and visitor) 
requirements and subsequently fulfil residential needs, along with also 
being efficient and well integrated into new developments. There is 
encouragement, especially at larger sites, to find innovative ways to 
lower levels of car parking demand where there are opportunities. 
Despite this, the SPD does not seek to restrict car ownership. This 
enables more flexibility than allowed under previous national 
government policy.

3.9. The parking standards are expressed in terms of a set requirement, so 
they are a clear guideline. This is to allow flexibility to take account of 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

location, circumstances (SPD paragraph 4.4) and the manner in which 
parking is provided (paragraph 4.8 (ii)). The SPD sets residential vehicle 
parking standards.  These are based on evidence about car ownership 
by location, tenure of property, and number of bedrooms.

3.10. Considerable research and evidence was collated to inform the adoption 
of the Parking Standards SPD. This included national research, analysis 
of car ownership trends in the Borough and the subsequent methods of 
travel to work. They also take account of the findings of Residents’ 
surveys of new housing areas in the Borough.

Applying the Council’s Parking SPD and recent developments across the 
Borough

3.11. To consider the impact of Borough development, three distinct areas 
have been identified for the Council’s approach to parking based around 
the Core Strategy Local Plan, namely: 

 the town centre, 
 the urban area north of A2, and 
 the village/rural area

3.12. Their precise boundaries are set out at Appendix B of the SPD.  Planning 
applications in the Ebbsfleet part of the Borough are considered by the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, using the SPD.

3.13. The varying characteristics of the Borough are recognised. For example 
standards are higher outside of Dartford town centre as this is the area 
less well served by public transport, and with more family/ large houses.

3.14. Since the adoption of the Council’s Parking SPD, the average number 
of spaces per dwelling on new large developments has been higher. 
Development sites such as Darenth Road, St Clements and Eastern 
Quarry (phases 1-3) which are now coming forward have all had a higher 
number of parking spaces per dwelling. Later planning applications (post 
2012) at The Bridge development site also saw an increase in parking 
provision, with the standards helping to enable this.

3.15. Applications approved after the SPD was adopted have seen an 
increased level of parking provision coming forward at sites in the past 
few years as they get implemented. More recent proposals have 
responded to the varying character of the Borough. The 2011 census 
shows 42% of residents in Dartford Town Centre did not own a car. 
There have therefore been different levels of provision provided at 
Northern Gateway and in the Town Centre to the rest of the Borough. 
Due to their proximity to the town centre and Dartford station, these 
areas have justified a smaller amount of parking provision in some sites, 
particularly for flatted developments. Lowfield Street development has 
been granted permission with parking provision at the lower end (0.66) 
reflecting the town centre’s  good access to services, employment and 
public transport, and also to allow for further room to enable a quality 
public realm for pedestrians and cyclists. Various measures are 
included, reflecting the fact that the expected occupants are likely to 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

have reduced car ownership, e.g. potential carpooling to facilitate 
vehicular use as necessary.

3.16. The outline application for Northern Gateway East and Mill Pond initially 
indicated a minimum provision of at least 1 parking space per unit 
(although higher provision and  more visitor bays provided than required 
by the standards will occur following ‘reserved matters’ stage approval). 
Elsewhere in Northern Gateway, with dwellings exceeding 400m 
distance from the town centre the Arjo North site does meet the parking 
standards.

3.17. The Council’s SPD standards allow flexibility to respond to local 
character and needs of the development, for example at St Clements 
good provision has been made additional to the provision of garages for 
the properties.

Conclusions and Potential Future Steps

3.18. It is anticipated that the Council’s most recent parking standards will 
continue to be implemented in the Borough by the council and the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC). Recent developments, 
which are the first evidence of the outcome of the Dartford SPD 
approach, are considered to have much more sensitively addressed 
parking needs.

3.19. In line with the policy, trends are anticipated to continue to show higher 
levels of parking at developments outside the town centre. The flexibility 
in the standards allows for parking strategies to be tailored to each 
development site and meet its particular needs within the site 
constraints, and other requirements such as achieving town centre 
regeneration.  

3.20. Evidence gathering and public discussion will take place, looking at what 
the key transport, social and environment priorities for the future are as 
integral part of forward planning. Parking and vehicles may well be 
raised as a strategic issue. In addition to the familiar public concerns, 
this could well bring to light new issues. There is the possibility these 
could fundamentally change parking space requirements. Development 
issues (current and future) may include:

 Continuing implementation of the current standards across the 
Borough as new types of development are put forward.

 Potential decline in car ownership in certain groups e.g. younger 
population due to cumulative cost factors such as insurance and 
fuel, and less need to travel for certain trips due to information 
technology/ lifestyles. 

 Considering how to maintain standards that are appropriate for 
locations seeing more development in future e.g. Ebbsfleet 
Garden City.

 The rise of electric/ hybrid vehicles (provided charging 
provisions are adequate) may soon be very important given the 
need to better understand and address air quality (around major 
roads in the Borough). The existing SPD has provisions to 
encourage electric charging points, but technology is advancing.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

 Longer term, more fundamental changes in behaviour and 
technology could have major ramifications. Within the strategic 
planning timescale, driverless cars are expected to become fully 
feasible and an attractive option to some households.

3.21. It is therefore proposed that policy and the performance of new 
developments in providing for parking continue to be monitored. This will 
occur both through the production of technical evidence for planning 
proposals and public consultation. Feedback is received from the public 
both through consultation on planning applications, and views expressed 
on public participation exercises on Local Plans and SPDs. Further 
borough-wide public consultations are anticipated, giving opportunities 
for opinions on the issue of car parking to be gauged.

3.22. In addition to closely considering development and future parking 
demand, other aspects of parking provision e.g. car parks and 
management of public streets should continue to be reviewed.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 “To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all of our communities.”

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications Recommended activities can likely be addressed 
through Planning Policy team staffing resource.

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford Parking Standards SPD

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Andrew Simpson 
(01322) 343128

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration

N/A





  

                  

 
 
 

  
 

        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Parking Standards  
Supplementary Planning Document 

PART OF DARTFORD’S   
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 

Adopted 26 July 2012 

APPENDIX A



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank 



    
     

  

 
 
      
 

 

  

 

   

 
 

  
 

  
       

 

    
 

   

 

 
 
 

Contents

Page No.

1. Introduction
Purpose of the SPD 1 
Status of the SPD 1 

2. Core Strategy Context 2 
3. Background Evidence 2 
4. Parking Standards 4 

General Approach 4 
Key  Issues  5
Design Requirements 7 
Parking Management 13 
Car and Lorry Parking Standards 14 
Cycle Parking Standards 24 
Motorcycle/ Scooter/Moped Parking Standards 25 
Vehicle Parking for People with Impaired Mobility 25 

5. Car, Van and Motorcycle/Scooter/Moped Parking Bay Sizes 26 
6. Garage, Car Barns and Car Ports Minimum Internal Size

Requirements 27 

Appendices 
A. Boundaries of the Town Centre, Urban (Other)

and Village/Rural Areas 28 
B. 	Description of Use Classes 29 
C. Examples of Residential Parking Requirements 30 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                                            
 

 

1 	INTRODUCTION 

Purpose of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

1.1 	 This SPD provides guidance on parking standards in the Borough for all 
locations and land uses.  It includes parking space requirements for cycles, 
and vehicles, including for people with impaired mobility: parking bay sizes, 
and sizes of garages, car barns and car ports.  Guidance on design and 
management of parking areas is also included. 

Status of the SPD 

1.2 	 This SPD is one of the documents in Dartford’s Local Development 
Framework (LDF).  The SPD is informed by the Core Strategy1 which provides 
the strategy for development in the Borough over the next 15 years and draws 
on the Parking Standards Background Paper2. It should be read in 
conjunction with the Core Strategy and subsequent LDF documents, including 
the Development Management Document. 

Diagram 1: Relationship with Other Documents 

Evidence 
Base 

Policy 
Guidance: 
National & 
Regional 

Core 
Strategy 

Parking 
standards 

SPD 

1.3 	 Once adopted, the SPD, although not part of the statutory development plan, 
will be an important consideration in the Council’s determination of planning 

1 Dartford Core Strategy, Dartford Borough Council, Adopted September 2011 
2 Parking Standards Background Paper, Dartford Borough Council 2011 

1  



 

 

   
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

   
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

                                            
 

 

applications.  It will also replace Kent County Council’s parking standards3. 
Developers will be expected to comply with the SPD when drafting 
masterplans and preparing planning applications. 

1.4 	 The Core Strategy was assessed through a Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental Assessment and a Habitats Regulations Assessment. The 
Screening Statement on the determination of the need for Strategic 
Environmental Assessment of this SPD provides a screening report to 
determine whether the SPD needs to be assessed further and concludes that 
no further SA/SEA is necessary. 

2 	CORE STRATEGY CONTEXT 

2.1 	The Dartford Core Strategy provides for a significant level of growth over the 
period to 2026, with up to 17,300 new homes and 26,500 new jobs.  This 
scale of development can only be sustained through an integrated approach 
to land use and transport planning that is designed to minimise the need to 
travel and encourage the most sustainable travel choices.  The Core Strategy 
promotes development in areas with good existing public transport, or where 
new or improved public transport provision can be provided by development. 
It also promotes a pattern of development where complementary land-uses 
are closely interrelated, so as to reduce travel.   

2.2 	Policy CS 15: Managing Transport Demand sets out elements of the 
Council’s approach to reducing the need to travel and minimising car use. It 
commits the Council to producing a Car Parking SPD, with standards that 
take account of availability of alternative means of transport, the particular 
opportunities within the proposed development to reduce the need for car use 
and the need to support the requirements of family life through the provision 
of visitor parking. It also sets out that in advance of a car parking 
supplementary planning document, the County Council’s parking standards 
will be applied to new development.  The policy proposes the implementation 
of an integrated walking and cycling network joining communities with the 
facilities they need to access.  It also requires major new residential or trip 
generating development to be supported by a travel plan. 

2.3 	Policy CS17: Design of Homes requires that where garages are provided, 
these should be of a fit for purpose size.  The policy also requires that homes 
are designed with adequate internal storage and recycling storage space. 
This will help insure that garages are used for their intended purpose, rather 
than for storage. Secure arrangements for the management and 
maintenance of communal areas are required.  This is applicable to parking 
areas. 

3 	 BACKGROUND EVIDENCE  

3.1 The background evidence in the Parking Standards Background Paper 
shows: 

3 Kent Vehicle Parking Standards (Supplementary Planning Guidance SPG4), July 2006; and Kent 
Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 Residential Parking, 26 November 2008 

2  



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  

  

 
 

Residential car parking 
Census data shows that car ownership varies by location, tenure and number 
of habitable rooms: 
 Geography - with average car/van ownership in the town centre of 1

rising to 1.5 in the rural area;
 Tenure – with average car/van ownership for rented accommodation

of 0.6 (flats) and 0.8 (houses) and, in the case of owner-occupied 0.9
(flats) and 1.4 (houses); and

 Number of habitable rooms – with average car/van ownership
increasing progressively according to the number of rooms for owner-
occupied housing from 1.1 to 2.0 (houses), but less so for rented
accommodation.

The Residents’ Surveys and post occupation surveys reveal that car 
ownership in the urban area has risen and that in new developments car 
ownership is 0.53 vehicles per bedroom, and that under half of garages 
developments in the urban area are used for parking cars. 

Workplace 
Census data shows that: 
 People travelled to employment areas and retail centres by a range of

modes of transport and it is important to provide parking for cars and
vans, motorcycles and cycles.

 Where the employment area was well served by public transport
and/or well located to residential areas fewer people travelled to work
by car. It may therefore be appropriate for developments at such
locations to make lower car parking provision.

3  



 

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

4 	PARKING STANDARDS 

General Approach 

4.1 	 The Core Strategy (Policy CS 15) promotes an integrated approach to land 
use and transport planning that is designed to minimise the need to travel and 
encourage the most sustainable travel choices.  The Council’s approach is 
one of encouraging a reduction in travel by car, rather than restricting car 
ownership. In line with national guidance, this SPD seeks to meet demand 
for car ownership by providing for parking to meet local demand in residential 
areas. Car parking will, however, be regulated at trip destinations, where a 
choice of travel options is available. The Council will work with developers to 
achieve lower levels of car usage on development sites where there is the 
potential to do so through a range of initiatives (see para 4.8(ii)). 

4.2 	 Car ownership varies from household to household as well as over the 
lifetime of a household. Parking spaces in residential development are 
required not just by residents but also by visitors, delivery and servicing 
vehicles.  Providing for the maximum ‘just in case’ level is not efficient as it 
requires too much land to be set aside for car parking, resulting in  increased 
house prices and housing design dominated by tarmac.  The most efficient 
use of parking space is achieved through the use of unallocated and shared 
parking space.  However, this needs to be balanced with the desire of 
residents to have a parking space adjacent to their home and where they can 
see it. 

4.3 	 The evidence set out in the Parking Standards Background Paper and 
summarised in section 3 above shows that residential parking requirements 
are influenced by location, tenure and the number of habitable rooms.  Three 
distinct areas in the Borough have been identified, where locational 
characteristics result in differing residential parking requirements, namely: 
Dartford town centre, urban, and village/rural locations. These areas are 
shown on Map 1 and described below.  The car parking standards for these 
locations differentiate between houses and flats and the number of bedrooms 
provided. 

1 Town Centre: 	 Sites within the Dartford Town Centre boundary, as 
defined in the Core Strategy. 

2 Urban (other): 	 Locations within the urban area north of A2 that are not 
within the Green Belt, with the exception of Dartford 
Marshes, and are not identified as Town Centre.  

3 Village/Rural: 	 The southern part of the Borough that lies within the 
Green Belt, including villages and settlements that do 
not lie within the Green Belt.   

4.4 	 This SPD sets out the required level of parking which is considered 
appropriate, according to the location and type of use.  An alternative level 
of provision may be considered on a site specific basis, where evidence to 
justify it on the circumstances of the specific case is provided. Where a 
lower standard of provision is proposed, a Travel Plan and/or Transport 
Impact Assessment/Transport Statement will need to demonstrate that the 
proposed provision would meet the demand for parking generated by the 
development.  The Travel Plan, including any management provision, will 
need to be robust and enforceable.  To this end, the Council may require 

4  



 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 
  

  

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
                                            

 
 

commuted payments to enable annual monitoring by a third party and to fund 
a range of contingency measures, should they prove necessary.

Key Issues 

4.5 Access and parking for cars, cycles, motorcycles, scooters or mopeds and 
service vehicles should be designed as an integral part of any development, 
so that it functions well and contributes to the design quality of a place. 
Research by Kent County Council shows that parking is a major cause of 
residents’ dissatisfaction, and sometimes even serious neighbour dispute in 
otherwise good developments.  Safety concerns are often associated with 
parking. A design-led approach to the provision of parking can help address 
these issues.  Developments should be designed and managed so as not to 
result in parking spilling over into adjacent or nearby established residential 
areas. 

4.6 This guidance is not prescriptive about the format in which parking should be 
provided, since the most appropriate way will vary according to site 
circumstances. There are many ways of successfully arranging car parking: 
on-street, courtyard, within the house plot, and undercroft or basement 
parking. 

4.7 Providing creative, well-designed and accessible solutions to car parking and 
servicing within a development is important to its success and quality, and 
has a direct influence on the street and the local environment.  This will 
include providing the right number of spaces in the right places.  

4.8 The key issues below should be taken into account in preparing development 
proposals4 and will be used in the determination of planning applications: 

(i) Allocated/unallocated parking

The allocation of parking to individual residential units increases the amount 
of parking needed.  Non-allocated parking makes use of different levels of 
ownership, including those households without vehicles and is a more 
efficient use of land as over provision is not required to meet individual need. 
Unallocated on-street parking is more flexible than on-plot parking, as it can 
accommodate visitors, deliveries and residents across the day and night.  If 
designed as part of the scheme, on-street parking can be a good way to cater 
for visitors and additional vehicles owned by residents where there are no on-
street restrictions. 

An element of allocated parking is good as it ensures a sense of ownership 
and security.  One allocated space per house will be appropriate in most 
circumstances, with the remainder provided as unallocated spaces.  A lower 
level of allocated provision is suitable in the case of flats. Allocated parking 
spaces should either be designed on-plot or be located in secure, restricted 
access parking areas. 

4 All the key issues should be considered for residential and mixed-use developments 
including residential, and key issues (ii) bullets 3 and 4 are also applicable to non-residential 
developments. 

5  



 

 
 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 
 
 

(ii) Innovative car parking/parking management solutions

Large developments and sites that are well served by public transport provide 
an opportunity for innovative car parking and management measures that 
could result in a reduced need for parking spaces.  The initiatives may 
include: 
 Car clubs in sites where there is potential for sufficient demand for the

facility
 Reduced car parking provision combined with a safeguarded area of

open space, which could be converted to a parking area should
demand necessitate it.  This will only be considered where the open
space is in excess of Core Strategy requirements.  Management and
maintenance agreements will be required relating to such land,
together with a commuted fund to cover the future laying out of
parking spaces, should they be required.

 Provision to reduce communal parking areas and transfer to other
uses, as and when there is a reduced need for parking, usually as the
result of actions carried out as part of a Travel Plan.

 Optional purchase of a parking space in a communal area, making the
opportunity cost of parking provision transparent. This may be
particularly suited to flatted developments or for multiple car
households.  It could also be applied to secure compounds for vans,
caravans, campervans, boats, horse boxes and like vehicles and
trailers.

(iii) Garages/Car Ports/Car Barns

Evidence shows that garages are not always used for garaging cars, with just 
under half not being used for such purpose. This can be at least partly 
helped by ensuring adequate internal storage space in the house.  Where 
garages meet the minimum garage standard up to 50% will count towards the 
parking requirement.  On smaller developments a greater proportion may be 
considered depending on location, parking and potential for on-street parking. 

The loss of garages to another use can result in the need for additional 
parking that has not been taken into account in the design of the 
development, and can have a detrimental impact on the residential area. 
Applications for change of use will need to provide sound evidence that the 
change will not adversely impact residential amenity or highway safety.  

Open car ports and car barns are less likely to be used for non-garage uses. 
Where they are of good design and meet the minimum standard they will 
count towards the parking requirement in full. They should be designed to 
ensure that the uprights do not prevent opening of car doors.  If this is the 
case, a larger space will be required.  To ensure that they continue to be used 
for parking the Council will attach conditions to planning permissions to 
prevent post-construction retro-fitting of lockable entrance doors. 

This SPD sets out minimum garage, car barn and car port size requirements 
at Section 6 and Design Requirements are set out at paragraph 4.9 (16). 

6  



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(iv) Visitor Parking

Research by the Council shows that insufficient visitor parking spaces has 
been provided on some of the newer housing developments.  Parking 
provision for visitors needs to be considered over and above that required for 
residents. 

Unallocated parking shared by the different users is usually the most efficient 
way of providing this, particularly where the first resident space is allocated 
on-plot or in a secure residents’ only parking area.  Where resident parking is 
provided wholly as allocated space a higher level of visitor parking provision 
will need to be provided.   

In the town centre, visitor parking may be in nearby public car parks or on-
street metered or controlled parking.  Elsewhere, this could be in the form of 
unallocated parking spaces set aside either on-street or in communal areas.  

(v) Vans, Caravans, Campervans, Boats, Horse Boxes and other like
Vehicles and Trailers

Modern working patterns now often necessitate the parking of vans at home 
and vans are an increasingly common sight in residential areas. There is a 
need for developments to be designed with them in mind both for residential 
and commercial developments.  Planning applications should set out how the 
management and enforcement of vans will be addressed.  The standards in 
the SPD allow for a flexible but enforceable approach, according to the needs 
of the development. See paragraph 4.9 (18). 

The ownership of caravans, campervans, boats, horse boxes, and like 
vehicles and other trailers is becoming increasingly popular.  Such vehicles 
and trailers are generally higher and/or longer than family cars and forecourt 
parking cannot readily be designed to accommodate them.  Due to their size 
they may block light to properties, obstruct the pavement and can be visually 
intrusive in the street scene.  Unlike vans they tend to be used on an 
occasional basis.  See paragraph 4.9 (19).  

Design Requirements 

4.9 The key criteria which will be used to assess the design of parking areas in 
planning applications for both residential and non-residential development, 
are set out below: 

General Principles 

Parking Strategy 
1. Design parking into a development at an early stage to ensure that it relates well to
the development. This will include consideration of location, the availability of public
transport and the parking standards set out in this SPD.  On larger schemes,
developers should set out an overall approach to parking at an early stage rather
than piecemeal provision at each phase of development.

7  



 

   
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

The plan is an example of 
where parking, both allocated 
and on-street visitor parking 
have been designed as an 
integral part of the overall 
development. 

Street Environment 
2. Design the street scene with its intended purpose in mind:

a) Design out the risk of vehicles parking in areas not intended for parking,
including pedestrian footways.

b) Areas for car parking designed so as not to encourage use for other
purposes, for example skateboarding.

c) Design with emergency services in mind.  	This will also reduce problems
associated with deliveries, removals and refuse collection.

Parking for people with impaired 
mobility and covered cycle parking 
close to entrance to building, 
overlooked and benefiting from 
overhead lighting. 

Bollards used to prevent parking on the 
pavement. 

Crime prevention through environmental design 
3. Provide parking spaces, and cycle and motorcycle, scooter and moped facilities
that are overlooked safe, secure and accessible and in locations where users have a
sense of ownership. For cycles, and motorcycle, scooter and mopeds facilities
should be under cover.

4. Where undercroft or underground car parks are incorporated into developments,
include security measures such as CCTV and provide good lighting to create a safe
environment.  Secure access for pedestrians and cars minimises misuse and access
by people who do not live there. Consider the position of vents, grills and access
points to minimise the negative impact on the public realm.

8 



 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Parking for people with impaired mobility 
5. Incorporate parking for people with impaired mobility into the development and 
ensure it is clearly marked and appropriately positioned.  Where the scheme is 
mixed-use, consider the parking needs of people with impaired mobility in all 
elements of the scheme.  The use of designated spaces should be regularly 
monitored and reviewed to ensure that the allocation is appropriate and that the 
system is working well. Where parking is provided for visitors with impaired mobility 
in residential or mixed-developments the spaces should be retained for such use by 
visitors.  Spaces should not be conveyed to individual owners.  This is to ensure that 
the space(s) remain available for use by visitors with impaired mobility. 

Cycle and motorcycle/scooter/moped parking 
6. Wherever possible, parking should be incorporated within the curtilage of the 
building. 

Landscaping 
7. Protect trees and landscaped areas from vehicles damaging them and over-
running, through measures such as buffer zones, knee rails, bollards, high kerbs, 
wheel stops. 

Surface Water Run-off 
8. In order to reduce the impact of surface water runoff from residential car parks 
permeable materials should be used.  For larger car parks, such as supermarket car 
parks, the surfacing should be impermeable with treatment such as interceptor or 
trapped gulley, to reduce the risk of pollution to controlled waters (surface and 
ground). 

Buffer Zones 
9. Where vehicle parking is adjacent to a property that it does not serve, a physical 
buffer should be included as part of the design to prevent damage to that property. 
This could be through means such as high kerbs, knee rails or landscaped buffer 
zones. Developments should provide: 

 A minimum buffer strip of 1 metre between the door and windows of 
residential dwellings and a parking space, where it is not in use by residents 
of that property. 

	 Where parking spaces are adjacent to fences of rear gardens there should be 
a minimum of a 0.5 metre landscape buffer between the parking space and 
the fence. 

	 A raised/recessed detail at the edge of the parking bay to stop the wheels 
overhanging the buffer zone. 

Residential developments 

Useable spaces 
10. Design car parking for ease of use, so as not to inadvertently create parking 
pressure on areas not designed for the purpose. 

Minimise impact of parking on the street scene 
11. Design car parking so that it is well-integrated with and does not detract from the 
public realm, particularly in high density developments.  Consider the use of levels, 
planting, street furniture and lighting to integrate parking into the streetscape and 

9  



 

 
 

 

 

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

minimise the impact. On-plot parking can be ‘hidden’ by setting back from the 
building line or putting the spaces behind gates which ensure there are no gaps in 
the frontage. 

12. Care should be taken to ensure that accesses and egresses to larger car parks 
do not create dead frontages on residential streets. 

This scheme provides for well-integrated 
on-street parallel parking.  However, the 
design is undermined by the lack of 
controls to prevent parking on the 
pavement. 

An example of integrated 
parking with overlooking. 

Pedestrian/cycle realm 
13. The street scene should be designed to prevent or discourage parking across 
emergency vehicle accesses, in turning areas or on footways or pedestrian/cycle 
desire lines.   This can be achieved through measures such as planting, simple 
bollards, high kerbs, or pinch points.  Applicants will be required to demonstrate that 
their scheme will not conflict with pedestrian and cycle routes. 

Parking set back to prevent vehicles A small parking square with square parking 
overhanging the pavement.  Soft that is overlooked and reserved for 
landscaping has been used to help surrounding properties.  Soft landscaping 
screen undercroft parking. could, however be improved. 

On-street parking areas 
14 On-street parking should take into account design features such as security and 
landscaping, and provide adequate bay sizes that are easy to enter and exit as these 

10  



 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 

 

 
 

 

   

 
  

 
 

will increase the appeal of the parking area.   A variety of parking styles may be used 
including: square parking; angled parking and parallel or ‘End to End’ parking.   

Off-street parking areas 
15. Off-street communal parking areas should be located and designed in a way that
encourages their use.  They should be small in nature, serving no more than 8
dwellings. They should be designed as part of the public realm, overlooked, secure
and with a sense of place in order to encourage ownership.  They should have direct
access to/from surrounding dwellings and have adequate lighting.  They should also
provide adequate manoeuvring space.  Security can be improved where these
parking courts are for use by specific residents only and are not accessible to general
visitors.

Parking Space in Front of Garages/Car Barns/Car Ports 
16. Parking space in front of a garage, car port or car barn should provide only space
for the full length of the vehicle, plus an allowance for opening of the garage door.
5.5 metres should normally be provided in front of garages and 5 metres in front of
car ports and car barns.  Where there is insufficient space to allow for the full length
of a vehicle on the forecourt, left-over space should be designed to ensure that it is
not used for vehicle parking, with consequent overhanging onto, or blocking of, the
public pavement. Where no parking space is provided in front of garages, a space of
0.5metres should be provided to allow for the opening of the garage door.

Apartment parking 
17. Parking for apartments should generally be provided as communal unallocated
parking. The Council are likely to require that the provision remains unallocated and
will seek this through legal agreement.

Vans 
18. Consider the parking needs of vans in a way that does not sterilise car parking
spaces, that is, use of two car parking spaces by a van.  The requirement for security
and overlooking of spaces is particularly critical for vans.  Preference will be given to
some wider width on-street parking.  On larger developments where there may be
greater demand for vans, secure compounds may be appropriate.  Where design
allows, consideration will be given to the provision of on-plot garages, car ports or car
barns of sufficient dimensions to accommodate a van. Design and management
measures to prevent vans overhanging the pavement, when provided on plot, should
be incorporated.  The minimum standard for van bays is set out in Section 5, page 26
and applies to on-street and communal bays.

Caravans, campervans, boats, horse boxes and like vehicles and trailers 
19. Parking and/or garaging within purpose built facilities will be encouraged, with
restrictive covenants to forecourt parking applied.  On larger developments,
developers are encouraged to provide secure compounds to cater for the demand.

Electric car charging 
20. Residential dwellings with on-plot parking should provide electrical charging
points. Where it is considered unviable to do so, dwellings should be designed to
enable the provision of an electrical charging point either as an optional extra or at a
later date. Where residential dwellings do not have parking within their curtilage,
consideration should be given to providing charging points on-street or within
communal parking areas, including designing the development so as to minimise the
cost and disturbance of retrofitting charging points at a later date.

11  



 12

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

     
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 
 

Non-residential developments 
Servicing 
21. Where appropriate, servicing areas should be screened through the use of 
planting, railings, gates and low-rise walls, so as to minimise the impact of the 
service yard activity on the public realm. 

Deliveries 
22. Parking for deliveries should be segregated from visitor parking spaces. 

Vehicular access 
23. Larger areas of public parking should be designed to allow free flow access into 
the parking area from the main road and prevent tail back onto the main road.  

Pedestrians 
24. The needs of pedestrians should be taken into account when designing the 
layout of car parks. Within the car park, provision should be made to allow 
pedestrians to walk though it safely and routes should emphasise pedestrian priority. 
Parking bays should be designed to prevent overhanging of the footpaths.  Entrances 
to car parks should be designed to ensure that pedestrians can cross this vehicular 
access point safely. 

25. Pedestrian access to the development should not generally be across a car 
parking area. Parking areas should avoid crossing pedestrian desire lines to the 
building entrance.  If this cannot be avoided, a segregated path for pedestrians 
should be provided.   

Schools 
26. The design of parking for new schools should take into account the need for 
suitably located parking for the dropping off and collection of children.  There may be 
an opportunity for shared parking where the school is part of a local centre with 
shops and community facilities. 

Community Halls and Centres 
27. Where community halls/centres are designed to serve the local community, there 
may be opportunities for shared parking where the hall/centre is part of a local centre 
with shops and other local facilities. 

Electrical charging points 
28. Non-residential developments should demonstrate that consideration has been 
given to the provision of electrical charging points, including demand for such facility 
and impact on development viability.  Industrial and warehousing units, retail and 
leisure developments should be designed to enable the provision of electrical 
charging points from the outset of the development or for retro-fitting at a later date. 

Disabled parking and cycle 
stands provided close to 
entrance and well lit. 
Covered stands would have 
been more appropriate. 

Cycle and motorcycle 
shelters should provide 
protection from the 
elements, both from above 
and the side. 

Pedestrian walkway 
linking shops with parking.  
The pedestrian crossing 
across the access road 
has been raised to 
provide an at grade route. 



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Parking Management 

4.10 	 A Parking Management Strategy for the development may be a requirement 
of a planning permission, depending on the location and nature of the 
scheme. The Strategy should cover matters such as management of on-
street, off-street, private parking and short-stay parking, either by private 
management or local authority management and enforcement.  Traffic 
Regulation Orders may be required where there are implications for on-street 
parking on roads to be adopted. The developer will be expected to fund the 
cost of these by way of a S106 Agreement. 

4.11 	 Developments in Dartford town centre, railway stations and other attractions 
may also generate a need for additional or amended Traffic Regulation 
Orders. The funding of orders is likely to be sought by way of a S106 
agreement attached to the planning permission. 

13  



 

 
 

 

 
  

 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

                                            
 

Car and Lorry Parking Standards5 

The standards below set out the amount of parking normally required, unless 
evidence justifying an alternative level is provided by the applicant (see para 4.4). 

Use Class A1: Shops 

Goods Vehicle Car Parking 
Food Retail up to 1,000 m² 
gross 

1 space per 500  m² 
gross 

1 space per 18 m² 
gross 

Food Retail over 1,000 m² 
gross 

1 space per 500  m² 
gross 

1 space per 14 m² 
gross 

Non Food Retail 1 space per 500  m² 
gross 

1 space per 25 m² 
gross 

Retail over 3,000 m² gross Level of provision to be in accordance with a site 
specific transport assessment 

Notes: 1. Car parking provision includes spaces for staff. 

2. There should be adequate provision for the parking and manoeuvring 
of vehicles, including service vehicles, in loading areas and off the 
highway. 

Use Class A2: Financial and Professional Services 

Car Parking 
All developments 1 space per 20 m² gross   

Use Class A3: Restaurants and cafes 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Employees Customers 

Restaurants & 
Cafes (see Note 2) 

See Note 1. 1 space per 2 1 space per 6 
staff 

Transport Cafes 
(see Note 3) 

m² gross 
1 lorry space per 5 m² 1 space per 2 1 space per 15 
gross (see Note 1) staff m² gross  

Notes:  1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to 
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway. 

2. Includes roadside restaurants. 

3. Transport Cafes are taken to be premises where large commercial 
vehicles are accepted. 

5 For full description of land use classes see Appendix B. 

14 



 

 
 
   

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
   

 

 

 

 
 
 

Use Class A4: Drinking Establishments 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Employees Customers 

Public Houses, 
Licensed Bars & 
Banqueting Halls 
(see Note 2) 

See Note 1 1 space per 2 staff 1 space per 10 m² 
gross 

Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway.

2. Includes bars open to non-residents in hotels and non-diners in
restaurants.

Use Class A5: Hot Food Takeaways 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Employees Customers 

Takeaways 
(see Note 2) 

See Note 1 1 space per 2 staff 1 space per 10 m² 
gross 

Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway.

2. Includes ‘drive-in’ or ‘drive-through’ restaurants.  Drive-in or drive-
through developments must also provide sufficient on-site waiting space
for vehicles to stand clear of the public highway.

15  



 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Use Class B1: Business 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Offices up to 500 m² gross See Note 1 1 space per 20 m² gross 
Offices 500 to 2500 m² gross See Note 1 1 space per 25 m² gross 
High Tech/ Research/ Light 
Industrial 

1 space per 200 m² 
gross 

1 space per 35 m² gross 

Developments over 2,500 m² 
gross 

Parking provision should be in accordance with a site 
specific transport assessment 

Note: 1. Adequate provision shall be made for the parking and turning or 
service vehicles serving the site, off the highway.  Consideration should 
also be given to the requirement for any overnight parking and facilities. 

Use Class B2: General Industry 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Developments up to 2,500 
m² gross 

1 space per 200 m² gross 1 space per 50 m² gross 

Developments over 2,500 
m² gross 

Parking provision should be in accordance with a site 
specific transport assessment 

Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to 
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway. 

2 Any office component of storage and distribution uses will be assessed 
against the B1 parking standard 

3 Industrial premises that demonstrate a high employee density, 
comparable, for example, with B1 High Tech and Research may be 
required to provide parking in line with the Use Class B1 requirement. 

4. Consideration should be given to the requirement for any overnight 
parking and facilities. 

Use Class B8: Storage and Distribution 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Storage and Distribution 1 space per 300 m² gross 1 space per 110 m² gross 
Wholesale Trade 
Distribution 

1 space per 300 m² gross 1 space per 35 m² gross 

Developments over 2,500 
m² gross 

Parking provision should be in accordance with a site 
specific transport assessment 

Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to 
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway. 

2. Any office component of storage and distribution uses will be assessed 
against the B1 parking standard 

3. Consideration should be given to the requirement for any overnight 
parking and facilities. 

16  



 

 
 

   
 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
   

 

 

 
 

 
    

   
 

 
 

 

 

Use Class C1: Hotels 

Goods Vehicles & 
Coach Parking 

Car Parking 

Employees Guests/visitors 
Hotels, Motels, Boarding 
& Guest Houses 

See Notes 1, 2 and 
3 

1 space per 2 
staff 

1 space per 
bedroom 

Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to 
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway. 

2. Adequate facilities should be provided for the drop off and pick up, 
including a short waiting period, for example for taxis. 

3. For developments exceeding 20 bedrooms, suitable provision should be 
made for coaches. This should take the form of either: 

a) Facilities to drop-off and pick-up guests which may consist of a 
lay-by adjacent to the public highway or utilisation of the car 
parking area, or 
b) Coach parking provision of 1 space per 20 bedrooms contained 
within the allocated space for car parking. 

4. Modern hotels often offer a variety of amenities and facilities such as 
conference facilities, restaurants and gyms.  Where such facilities are 
open to the public, adequate parking should be allocated according to the 
individual use class and potential for non-resident use. 

Use Class C2: Residential Institutions 

Goods Vehicles Car Parking 
Employees Guests/visitors 

Nursing/Residential 
Care Homes 

Minimum of 1 space 
for an Ambulance 
(See also Note 1) 

1 space per 
resident staff 
plus 1 space per 
2 other staff 

1 space per 6 
beds or 
residents 

Hospitals and Hospices See Notes 1 and 2 1 space per 2 
staff 

2 spaces per 3 
beds 

Residential Schools, 
Colleges or Training 
Centres 

See Note 1 and 3 1 space per 
resident staff 
plus 1 space per 
2 other staff 

1 space per 15 
students 

Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to 
park and manoeuvre clear of the public highway. 

2. Sufficient ambulance bays and/or goods vehicle parking should be 
provided to meet the operational needs of the development. 

3. At special schools there is a need to include appropriate additional 
spaces for delivery vehicles, ambulances, taxis and coaches. 

4. Parking standards for retirement developments that are warden 
assisted yet provide independent living will be considered under Class 
C3. 

17  



 

 

 
 

 

 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

Use Class C2A: Secure Residential Institution  

Applications for C2A uses will be dealt with on their own merit.  

Use Class C3: Dwelling houses (houses, flats and apartments)  

Town Centre Location  
On street controls Yes: controls preventing all (or all long stay) parking 
Area to which 
guidance applies 

Dartford Town Centre as shown on Map 1 

All size of homes 1 space per home 
FORM Combination of: 

1) controlled access to private or communal private areas, and 
2) unallocated on-street parking provision where new streets 
are created 

Can garages be 
counted? 

Yes up to 50% of provision will be considered, providing the 
garage size meets this SPD’s minimum dimension guidance. 
Will generally only be suited to small scale (re)development and 
infill type schemes. 

Can car ports be 
counted? 

Yes. Will generally only be suited to small scale 
(re)development and infill type schemes. 

Visitor parking Primarily off-plot in short stay car parks, on-street 
metered/controlled parking. 

Provision for vans 1 space per 10 homes or part thereof, in preferably unallocated 
communal areas. 

18  



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
  

 

 

  

 
 

    
 

 

Urban 
On-street controls On-street controls and parking management strategy in major 

developments.  Limited elsewhere. Parking management 
strategy will be subject to a S106 agreement. 

Area to which 
guidance applies 

The Borough north of A2, not within the Green Belt and 
excluding Dartford Town Centre, as shown on Map 1 

1 & 2-bedroom 
flats and houses 

1.2 space per home. 

FORM Unallocated parking is preferred for flats. 1 space may be 
allocated in the case of houses. 

3-bedroom homes 1.5 spaces per home. 
FORM Usually, 1 space allocated and 0.5 space unallocated. 

4-bedrooms and 
more houses 

2 spaces per home. 

FORM 1 or 2 allocated spaces, with the balance unallocated. 
Side-by-side in locations where this is appropriate to place-
making / character sense. 
Tandem parking may be accepted for homes in single 
ownership and will count towards the parking requirement. 

Can car ports and 
barns be counted? 

Yes. Open car barns will need to be designed carefully to 
reduce the risk of crime. 

Can garages be 
counted? 

Yes up to 50% of provision will be considered, providing the 
garage size meets this SPD’s minimum dimension guidance. 

Visitor parking 3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof in unallocated spaces in 
communal areas or on-street.  This is in addition to residents 
parking set out above. 

Provision for vans 1 space per 10 homes or part thereof, preferably on-street or in 
secure compounds.  This is in addition to parking provision set 
out above. 

Note: Bedrooms will include rooms that are of a size and proportion capable of being 
used as a bedroom.  This definition excludes lounge and dining rooms. 

19  



 

 

 

    
 

  
 

  

  

 
  

 

  
 

 
 

    

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

Village / Rural 
On-street controls No or very limited on-street controls. 
Area to which 
guidance applies 

Green Belt area in south of Borough, including settlements 
within it, as shown on Map 1 

1 & 2-bedroom flat 1.2 space per flat 
FORM Unallocated parking is preferred. 

1 & 2-bedroom 
houses 

1.5 spaces per home and 2 if both are allocated 

FORM Usually, at least 1 space allocated and 0.5 spaces unallocated. 
Tandem parking may be accepted for homes in single 
ownership and will count towards the parking requirement. 

3-bedrooms or 
more homes 

2 spaces per home. (see Note 1) 

FORM Allocated. 
May be side-by-side in locations where this is appropriate to ` 
place-making / character sense. 
Tandem parking may be accepted for homes in single 
ownership and will count towards the parking requirement. 

Can car ports and 
barns be counted? 

Yes. Open car barns will need to be designed carefully to 
reduce the risk of crime. 

Can garages be 
counted? 

Yes up to 50% of provision will be considered, providing the 
garage size meets this SPD’s minimum dimension guidance. 

Visitor parking? 3 space per 10 homes or part thereof in unallocated spaces in 
communal or on-street.  This is in addition to residents parking 
set out above. 

Provision for vans 1 space per 10 homes or part thereof, preferably on-street or in 
secure compounds. This is in addition to provision set out 
above. 

Note: 1. Where additional levels of allocated parking are proposed per home, 
acceptability will depend on layout, context, good design and residential 
amenity. 

Note: Bedrooms will include rooms that are of a size and proportion capable of being 
used as a bedroom.  This definition excludes lounge and dining rooms. 

Use Class C4: Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

Car Parking 
Houses in Multiple Occupation Level of provision to be agreed in discussion with 

the Council. 

20  



 

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Use Class D1: Non-Residential Institutions 

Goods & Service 
Vehicles 

Car Parking 

Guideline Employees Pupils/visitors/clients 
Primary & Secondary 
Schools 

See Notes 1, 2, 3 
& 6 

1 space per 15 
pupils 

1 space per 2 
classes 

Further & Higher 
Education 

See Notes 1,2 & 3 1 space per 15 
pupils 

1 space per 15 
students 

Libraries/ Art Galleries/ 
Museums/ 
Public/Exhibition Hall 

See Note 1 1 space per 60 m² gross 

Places of Worship See Note 1 1 space per 10 m² gross 
Medical Centres/ 
Surgeries (including 
veterinary surgeries) 

See Note 1 & 4 1 space per 2 
staff 

3 spaces per 
consulting/ 
treatment room 

Nurseries/ Crèches/ 
Playschools 

See Note 1 & 3 1 space per 2 
staff 

1 space per 4 
children 

Day Care Centres See Note 1 & 5 1 space per 2 
staff 

1 space per 4 
attendees 

Notes: 1. There should be adequate provision to enable delivery vehicles to park 
and manoeuvre clear of the public highway. 

2. Provision should be made to accommodate school/public transport 
vehicles delivering and picking-up children. 

3. Appropriate provision should be made for the setting down and picking 
up of children in a safe environment and in a manner that does not unduly 
interfere with the operation and use of the public highway. This will also 
apply to car parking for parents/carers taking children to and from school. 

4. Provision should be made to accommodate ambulances where 
appropriate. 

5. Provision within the overall allocation for car parking should be made for 
mini-buses where these are used to transport people to and from day 
centres. 

6. At special schools there is a need to include appropriate additional 
spaces for ambulances, taxis and coaches. 

7. A lower provision may be appropriate for education establishments in an 
urban location where there is good access to alternative forms of transport 
to allow sustainable travel. 

21  



 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 

   
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Use Class D2: Assembly and Leisure 

Car Parking 
Cinemas, Concert Halls, Conference 
Centres, Bingo Halls 

1 space per 5 seats. 

Discotheques, Dance Halls, Ballrooms 1 space per 22 m² gross. 
Multi-Activity Sports & Leisure Centres, 
Swimming Pools, Ice Rinks, Health & 
Fitness Centres, Gymnasia 

1 space per 22 m² gross plus 1 space per 
15 seats where appropriate. 

Stadia 1 space per 15 seats (see Note 2) 
Bowling Green/ Centres/ Alleys, 
Snooker Halls, Tennis/ Squash/ 
Badminton Clubs 

2 spaces per lane/ court/table (see Note 3) 

Outdoor Sports Facilities, Playing 
Fields 

1 space per 2 participants plus 1 space per 
15 spectators. 

Golf Courses & Driving Ranges 3 space per hole/bay 
Equestrian Centres, Riding Stables 1 space per stable 
Historic House & Gardens, Country 
Parks 

1 space per 400 visitors per annum (see 
Note 4) 

Other Uses 1 space per 22 m² gross 
Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to 

park and manoeuvre clear of the highway. 

2. Provision should also be made for coach parking with a maximum 
standard of 1 coach space per 300 seats. Such provision is to be 
provided as an alternative to car parking provision.  Coach parking 
should be designed and managed so that it will not be used for car 
parking. 

3. Where provisions are made within the development to accommodate 
spectators then an additional parking provision of 1 space per 15 seats 
should be provided. 

4. Provision should also be made for coach parking with a maximum 
standard of 1 coach space per 5,000 visitors per annum. 

5. Multifunctional uses must be considered taking account of individual 
use class and adequate parking allocated to encompass all uses, when 
assessing the parking requirements of a development, taking into 
account combined visits. 

22  



 

 
 
   

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Sui Generis Uses 

Car Parking 
Employees Customers/visitors 

Car Sales (including auctions) 
(see Note 6) 

1 space per 2 staff. 1 space per 50 m² 
gross. 

Petrol Filling Stations (see 
Notes 2 & 5) 

1 space per 20 m² gross. 

Night Clubs/ Casinos 1 space per 22 m² gross. 
Theatres 1 space per 5 seats. 
Retail Warehouse Clubs (see 
Note 3) 

1 space per 25 m² gross. 

Amusement Arcades 1 space per 22 m² gross. 
Residential Hostels 1 space per resident staff 

plus 1 space per 2 other 
staff. 

1 space per 6 
residents. 

Vehicle Servicing & Repair 1 space per 2 staff. 4 spaces per service 
bay. 

Taxi & Vehicle Hire, Coach & 
Bus Depots 

1 space per 2 staff. 1 space per registered 
vehicle. 

Open Commercial Use (e.g. 
Scrap Yards, Recycling 
Centres) (see Note 4) 

1 space per 2 staff. To be assessed 
individually. 

Law Courts 1 space per 2 staff 6 spaces per 
courtroom. 

Camp Site/Caravan Parks 
(permanent residence) 

1 space per 2 staff 1 space per pitch or 
caravan 

Marinas & Other Boating 
Facilities Stadia 

1 space per 2 moorings or berths. 

Theme Parks, Leisure Parks 1 space per 200 visitors per annum (see Note 7) 
Social Clubs 1 space per 22 m² gross. 
Notes: 1. Adequate facilities should be provided to enable delivery vehicles to

park and manoeuvre clear of the highway.

2. Applies to retail areas only and not to filling station forecourts.

3. One goods vehicle per 500 m² gross.

4. Provision for Goods Vehicle Parking to be agreed with the Council.

5. Petrol Filling Stations forecourt layout should include allowance for
loading, unloading and turning of delivery vehicles and ATM (if present)
users.

6. Motor Vehicle Showrooms should make provision for car transporters to
load/unload off the highway.

7. Provision should also be made for coach parking with a maximum
standard of 1 coach space per 5,000 visitors per annum.

23  



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Cycle Parking Standards 

Use Class Cycle Parking Standard (see Note 1) 
A1: Shops 1 space per 200 m² gross (see Note 2). 
A2: Financial and 
Professional Services 

1 space per 200 m² gross for staff and 1 space per 
1,000 m² gross for visitors. 

A3: Restaurants and Cafes, 
and Transport cafes 
A4: Drinking Establishments 
A5: Hot Food Takeaways 

}1 space per 100 m² gross for staff and 1 space per 
100 m² gross for customers (see Note 3). 
} 
} 
} 

B1: Business; 
B2: General Industry 
B8: Storage and Distribution 

}1 space per 200 m² gross for staff and 1 space per 
}1,000 m² gross for visitors (see Note 2). 
} 

C1: Hotels 1 space per 10 beds. 
C2: 
Hospital & Other residential 
institutions offering a level of 
care 
Residential schools, colleges 
& training centres 

1 space per 10 beds. 

1 space per 5 students. 

C2A: Secure Residential 
Institution 

To be considered on own merit. 

C3: 
Dwelling houses 

Sheltered accommodation 

1 space per 1 and 2 bed homes and 2 per 3+ bed 
homes; plus 1 space per 8 homes for visitors (see 
Notes 4 and 6). 
1 space per 5 units. 
Provision will normally be provided within the 
curtilage or garage which meets the minimum 
standard (see Section 6). 

C4: Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) 

At least 1 space per HMO and 1 space per 8 
dwellings for visitors, normally provided in curtilage. 

D1: Non-Residential 
Institutions: 
Junior Schools 
Secondary Schools; Further 
and Higher Education 

Medical Centres/ Surgeries 
Other Non-Residential 
Institutions 

2 spaces per classroom 
1 space per 7 pupils/students. [Where there is 
known demand, the minimum provision should be 
exceeded (up to 1 space per 5 pupils/students)] 
1 space per 2 consulting/ treatment rooms 
1 space per 50 seats or 100 m² gross. 

D2: Leisure & Entertainment 1 space per 300 seats 
D2: Sport Facilities & Venues 1 space per 10 participants 

plus 10% 
1 space per 10 staff 

Sui Generis Uses Will be determined on an individual basis. 
Notes: 1. The cycle parking standards are a minimum.  A higher provision may be 

required if the needs of a particular development or location indicate this. 
2. For Use Class A1 developments over 3,000 m² gross and Use Classes 
B1, B2 and B8 developments over 2,500 m² gross the level of cycle 
parking provision to be in accordance with a site specific transport 
assessment. 
3. The staff cycle parking standard for Use Classes A3-A5 should be 
provided within the site curtilage.  Customer parking facilities should in the 

24  



 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

first instance be provided within the site curtilage and where this is not 
possible, or if more appropriate, it should be provided as part of a 
communal facility/ies. 
4. For houses parking provision should be on-plot; and for apartments it 
should be provided as communal parking in a location(s) that is 
overlooked, safe, secure and accessible. 
5. Commercial developments should provide facilities such as lockers, 
changing and shower facilities for staff. 
6. Bedrooms will include rooms that are of a size and proportion capable 
of being used as a bedroom.  This definition excludes lounge and dining 
rooms. 

Motorcycle/Scooter/Moped Parking Standards 

Residential (flats and 
apartments, and houses with no 
potential for on-plot parking). 

1 space + 1 additional space for every 20 car 
parking spaces provided. 

Non Residential Developments 1 space + 1 additional space for every 20 car 
parking spaces provided. 

The motorcycle, scooter and moped parking standards are a minimum and higher 
provision may be provided if wanted or a need is demonstrated. 

Parking provision should be provided as communal parking in a location that is 
overlooked, safe, secure and accessible. 

Commercial developments should provide facilities such as lockers, changing and 
shower facilities for staff. 

Minimum Vehicle Parking Standards for People with Impaired Mobility 

For Employees and Visitors to Business Premises (Use Classes A2, B1, B2 & B8) 
Car Parks up to 40 spaces 2 designated mobility impaired spaces, 

plus 1 space of sufficient size but not 
specifically designated. 

Car Parks with 40 spaces to 200 
spaces 

4 designated mobility impaired spaces or 
5% of the total capacity, whichever is 
greater. 

Car Parks with greater than 200 
spaces 

6 designated mobility impaired spaces, 
plus 2% of the total capacity. 

For Shopping, Recreation and Leisure (Use Classes A1, A3, A4, A5, C1, D1, D2 & 
Unclassified) 
Car Parks up to 40 spaces 1 designated mobility impaired space, plus 

2 spaces of sufficient size but not 
specifically designated. 

Car Parks with 40 spaces to 200 
spaces 

3 designated mobility impaired spaces or 
6% of the total capacity, whichever is 
greater. 

Car Parks with greater than 200 
spaces 

4 designated mobility impaired spaces, 
plus 4% of the total capacity. 

25  



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

  
 
 

 

 

   
  

  

  
 

   

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

   
   
 

 
 
 
 

5 CAR, VAN AND MOTORCYCLE/SCOOTER/MOPED PARKING BAY 
SIZES 

Minimum Standards 

Description Dimensions 
(length 

by width) 

Notes 

Car Parking Bays located perpendicular to the carriageway 
Where bay is unobstructed on both 
sides 

5.0m by 2.5m If access to the rear of the 
vehicle is restricted 
increase the bay depth by 
0.5m. 

Where bay is obstructed on one side 5.0m by 2.7m 
Where bay is obstructed on both sides 5.0m by 2.9m 
Parking space for people with impaired 
mobility 

5.5m by 3.6m If in a communal area or 
public car park increase 
the depth by 1.2m to 
provide safe pedestrian 
aisle clear of traffic. 

Parking space for people with impaired 
mobility if the space is obstructed on 
either or both sides 

5.5m by 3.8m 

Van Parking Bays 
Where bay is unobstructed on both 
sides 

7.5m by 3.5m If access to the rear of the 
vehicle is restricted 
increase the bay depth by 
0.5m. 

Where bay is obstructed on one side 7.5m by 3.7m 
Where bay is obstructed on both sides 7.5m by 3.9m 

Car Parking Longitudinal Parking 
Where pedestrian access to the side 
away from the carriageway is not 
obstructed 

6.0m by 2.5m 

Where pedestrian access to the side 
away from the carriageway is 
obstructed 

6.0m by 2.7m 

Parking space for people with impaired 
mobility 

Not the preferred 
approach, although may 
be provided where subject 
to individual agreement. 

Motorcycle, Scooter or Moped 
2.5m by 1.5m 

5.1 Pedestrian access to properties should not be inhibited or obstructed by on-
site parking spaces.  New residential developments will be required to provide 
a 1.2 metre wide footpath in addition to the vehicle parking space or spaces 
where provided in parallel. 

26  



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
  
 
 

 
 

6 GARAGE, CAR BARN AND CAR PORT MINIMUM INTERNAL SIZE 
REQUIREMENTS 

Minimum Standards 

Type of provision Dimensions (length by 
width) 

Notes 

Garages 
Single 5.5m by 3.6m, OR 

7.0m by 3.0m 
Double 5.5m by 6.0m Open plan with no dividing 

walls between parking spaces.Treble 5.5m by 7.9m 
Car Barn and Car Ports 
Single 5.5m by 2.9m 
Double 5.5m by 5.4m Open plan with no dividing 

walls between parking spaces. 

Note: See paragraph 4.8 (iii) Garages/Car Ports/Car Barns above. 

27  



 

 
  

 

 

 

  

 
tf

r
 

il 
,

 
 

t
l

i
I

t
lli

,

 

Appendix A: Boundaries of the Town Centre, Urban (Other) and Village/Rural Areas  
1:57,774@ A4 

Legend 
Town Centre 

Urban 

Suburban Edge / Village / Rural 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller 
of Her Majestys Stationery Office 
© Crown Copyright 2011 

Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil 
Proceedings 
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2011 X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\Town_Centre_Edge_Of_Centre_Diagram_20110929\01_Project_Files\Town Centre_sub Rural_A4_Land_20110929.mxd 

©
 D

ar
 o

 d
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

 
10

00
25

87
0 

 2
01

1
 M

ap
 P

ro
du

ce
d 

B
y 

 T
he

 M
an

ag
em

en
 A

na
 y

s 
s 

&
 n

 e
 

ge
nc

e 
Te

am
 

28  



   

 
  

 

 
 

  

  
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
   

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Appendix B: Description of Use Classes 

Use Class Description 
A1: Shops Shops, retail warehouses, hairdressers, undertakers, travel and ticket 

agencies, post offices (but not sorting offices), pet shops, sandwich 
bars, showrooms, domestic hire shops, dry cleaners, funeral directors 
and internet cafes. 

A2: Financial and 
Professional 
Services 

Financial services such as banks and building societies, professional 
services (other than health and medical services) including estate and 
employment agencies and betting offices. 

A3: Restaurants 
and cafes 

For the sale of food and drink for consumption on premises – 
restaurants, snack bars and cafes. 

A4: Drinking 
Establishments 

Public houses, wine bars or other drinking establishments (but not 
nightclubs). 

A5: Hot Food 
Takeaways 

For the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises. 

B1: Business Offices (other than those that fall within Use Class A2), research and 
development of products and processes, light industry appropriate in a 
residential area. 

B2: General 
Industry 

Use for industrial process other than one falling within Use Class B1 
(excluding incineration purposes, chemical treatment or landfill or 
hazardous waste). 

B8: Storage and 
Distribution 

This Use Class includes open air storage. 

C1: Hotels Hotels, boarding and guest houses where no significant element of care 
is provided (excludes hostels). 

C2: Residential 
Institutions 

Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding schools, 
residential colleges and training centres. 

C2A: Secure 
Residential 
Institution 

Use for a provision of secure residential accommodation, including use 
as a prison, young offenders institution, detention centre, secure training 
centre, custody centre, short term holding centre, secure hospital, 
secure local authority accommodation or use as a military barracks. 

C3: Dwelling 
houses 

C3(A) covers use by a single person or a family (a couple whether 
married or not, a person related to them), as well as certain domestic 
employees. 
C3(B) up to six people living together as a single household and 
receiving care e.g. supported housing schemes such as those for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health problems. 
C3(C) covers groups of people (up to six) living together as a single 
household.  This allows for those groupings that do not fall within the 
C3 Houses in Multiple Occupation definition. 
Can take the form of a house, flat, apartment or maisonette.  Also 
referred to as ‘home’ in this document. 

Class C4: Houses 
in Multiple 
Occupation 

Small shared dwelling houses occupied by between three and six 
unrelated individuals, as their only or main residence, who share basic 
amenities such as kitchen or bathroom. 

D1: Non-
Residential 
Institutions 

Clinics, health centres, crèches, day nurseries, day centres, schools, art 
galleries (other than for sale or hire), museums, libraries, halls, places of 
worship, church halls, law court.  No residential education and training 
centres. 

D2: Assembly and 
Leisure 

Cinemas, music and concert halls, bingo and dance halls (but not night 
clubs), swimming baths, skating rinks, gymnasiums or areas for indoor 
or outdoor sports and recreation (except for motor sports, or where 
firearms are used). 

Sui Generis Uses  Certain uses do not fall within any use class and are considered ‘sui 
generis’.  Such uses include: theatres, hostels providing no significant 
element of care, scrap yards.  Petrol filling stations and shops selling 
and/or displaying motor vehicles.  Retail warehouse clubs, nightclubs, 
laundrettes, taxi businesses, amusement centres and casinos. 

29  



   

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Appendix C: Examples of Residential Parking Requirements 

The following examples are given as a guide only.  The parking standards will be applied flexibly, taking into consideration factors including 
scale and mix of development, and location. 

Scenario 1: Town Centre location – a development of 6 one bedroom flats 

Vehicle Parking Requirement: 
Residential Parking Requirement: 
1 bedroom flats: 6 @ 1 space per flat = 6 spaces.  To be provided as unallocated parking 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof = 2 spaces 

Van Parking Requirement: 
1 space per 10 homes or part thereof = 1 space 

Total Vehicle Parking Spaces: 9 spaces 

Cycle Parking Requirement: 
Residents Parking Requirement: 
1 bedroom flats: 1 space per flat = 6 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
Visitor spaces: 1 space per 8 flats = 1 space 

Total Cycle Spaces: 7 spaces 
To be provided as communal parking in a location that is overlooked, safe, secure and accessible. 

Motorcycle, Scooter and Moped Parking Requirement: 

The number of spaces, including visitor spaces, and location to be agreed through discussion with the Council 

30  



  
   

   

 
 

   
 

 
   

 
 

 
  

       
                 

                                                              
 

    
              

                                                           
 

 
                                                    

 
 

 
                                                 

                                        
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
                            

 
 

 
 

   
 

  

Scenario 2: Urban Housing Development – a development of 15 homes of which 10 are 2 bedroom and 5 are 4 bedroom homes. 

A: Each home has a garage on-plot that meets the minimum internal size 
requirement and no other on-plot parking, and a rear garden with side access. 

Vehicle Parking Requirement: 
Residential Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: 10 @ 1.2 spaces per home     = 12 spaces 4 bedroom homes: 5 @ 2 spaces per home  = 10 spaces 
Total required: = 22 spaces 

Provision: 
15 garages @ 50% = 7 spaces 
Remainder of spaces provided as unallocated spaces  = 15 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof = 5 spaces 

Van Parking Requirement: 
1 space per 10 homes or part thereof = 2 spaces 

Total Vehicle Parking Spaces: 29 spaces 

Cycle Parking Requirement: 
Residents and Visitors Parking Requirement: 
As the houses have garages and accessible rear gardens no provision is required. 

Motorcycle, Scooter and Moped Parking Requirement: 
As the homes have garages and accessible rear gardens no provision is required. 

B: The four bedroom homes have garages on-plot that meet the minimum 
internal size requirement and on-plot parking, and rear gardens with side 
access; the two bedroom homes have one space on-plot and rear gardens with 
no side or rear access. 

Vehicle Parking Requirement: 
Residential Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: 10 @ 1.2 spaces per home      = 12 spaces 
4 bedroom homes: 5 @ 2 spaces per home  = 10 spaces 
Total required:  = 22 spaces 

Provision: 
5 garages @ 50%   = 2 spaces 
15 spaces provided on-plot = 15 spaces 
Remainder of spaces provided as unallocated spaces  = 5 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof.  As most parking space is provided on-plot a 
minimum of 5 spaces is required, with the higher figure to be agreed through 
negotiation. 

Van Parking Requirement: 
1 space per 10 homes or part thereof = 2 spaces 

Total Vehicle Parking Spaces: a minimum of 29 spaces 

Cycle Parking Requirement: 
Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: 1 space per home = 10 spaces

 1 visitor space per 8 houses = 1 space 4 bedroom homes: no spaces as they have garages and accessible gardens 

Total Cycle Spaces: 11 spaces 

Motorcycle, scooter and moped parking requirement: 
The number of spaces, including visitor spaces, and location to be agreed through 
discussion with the Council 

31  



   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

                        
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

Scenario 3: Urban Housing Development – a development of 12 flats of which 9 are 1 bedroom and 3 are 2 bedroom flats. 

Vehicle Parking Requirement: 
Residential Parking Requirement: 
1 bedroom flat: 9 @ 1.2 spaces = 11 spaces 
2 bedroom flat: 3 @ 1.2 spaces = 4 spaces 
Total spaces    = 15 spaces 

Provision: 
Provided as unallocated spaces = 15 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof = 4 spaces 

Van Parking Requirement: 
1 space per 10 homes or part thereof = 2 spaces 

Total Vehicle Parking Spaces: 21 spaces 

Cycle Parking Requirement: 
Residents Parking Requirement: 
1 & 2 bedroom flats: 1 space per flat = 12 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
Visitor spaces: 1 space per 8 flats = 2 spaces 

Total Cycle Spaces: 14 spaces 
To be provided as communal parking in a location that is overlooked, safe, secure and accessible. 

Motorcycle, Scooter and Moped Parking Requirement: 
The number of spaces, including visitor spaces, and location to be agreed through discussion with the Council 

32  



    
    

   

 
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

 

 
  

               
                    
                    

                                                                 
 

               
                    
                    

                                                                 
 

 
                                                       

                                             
 

 

 
                                                       

                                                                   
                                             

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

  
  

 
 

                            
  

 

 
 

                            
  

 
  

Scenario 4: Village Infill – a development of 8 homes of which 2 are 2 bedroom, 3 are 3 bedroom and 3 are 4 bedroom homes. 

A: The two bedroom homes have a space on-plot and gardens with no side or 
rear access; the three and four bedroom homes have garages that meet the 
minimum internal size requirement and one space on-plot parking, and rear 
gardens with side access. 

Vehicle Parking Requirement: 
Residential Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: 2 @ 1.5 spaces per home     = 3 spaces 
3 bedroom homes: 3 @ 2 spaces per home   = 6 spaces 
4 bedroom homes: 3 @ 2 spaces per home   = 6 spaces 
Total required: = 15 spaces 

Provision: 
6 garages @ 50%  = 3 spaces 
On-plot non-garage provision  = 8 spaces 
Remainder of spaces provided as unallocated spaces  = 4 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof.  As most parking space is provided on-plot a 
minimum of 2 spaces, with the higher figure to be agreed through negotiation 

Van Parking Requirement: 
1 space per 10 homes or part thereof = 1 space 

Total Vehicle Parking Spaces: a minimum of 18 spaces 

Cycle Parking Requirement: 
Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: residential requirement - 1 space per home = 2 spaces

   Visitor requirement – 1 space per 8 homes  = 1 space 
3 and 4 bedroom homes: no spaces as they have garages and accessible gardens 

Total Cycle Spaces: 3 spaces 

B: The two bedroom homes have a space on-plot and rear gardens with no side 
or rear access; the three bedroom homes have car barns that meet the 
minimum internal size requirement and one space on-plot; and the four 
bedroom homes have garages that meet the minimum internal size requirement 
and one space on-plot.  The three and four bedroom homes have accessible 
rear gardens. 

Vehicle Parking Requirement: 
Residential Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: 2 @ 1.5 spaces per home     = 3 spaces 
3 bedroom homes: 3 @ 2 spaces per home   = 6 spaces 
4 bedroom homes: 3 @ 2 spaces per home   = 6 spaces 
Total required: = 15 spaces 

Provision: 
3 garages @ 50% = 1 space 
3 car barns = 3 spaces 
On-plot non-garage provision  = 8 spaces 
Remainder of spaces provided as unallocated spaces  = 3 spaces 

Visitor Parking Requirement: 
3 spaces per 10 homes or part thereof.  As most parking space is provided on-plot 
minimum of 2 spaces, with the higher figure to be agreed through negotiation 

Van Parking Requirement: 
1 space per 10 homes or part thereof = 1 space 

Total Vehicle Parking Spaces: a minimum of 18 spaces 

Cycle Parking Requirement 
Parking Requirement: 
2 bedroom homes: residential requirement - 1 space per home = 2 spaces

   Visitor requirement – 1 space per 8 homes  = 1 space 
3 and 4 bedroom homes: no spaces as they have garages and accessible gardens 

Total Cycle Spaces: 3 spaces 

33  



   

  
  

  
 

Motorcycle, Scooter and Moped Parking Requirement: Motorcycle, Scooter and Moped Parking Requirement: 
The number of spaces, including visitor spaces, and location to be agreed through The number of spaces, including visitor spaces, and location to be agreed through 
discussion with the Council. discussion with the Council. 

34  



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2017-18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly 
of the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan 
delivers the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through 
the following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the 
Council wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating 
to the Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of 
the Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the third quarter of 
2017-18.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have 
targets assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some 
indicators may report annually, and these have been identified in the 
report.



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q3 2017/18
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q3 Update
Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Planning consent for scheme granted in August 2017.  Some delay occurring whilst 
developer gears up for start on site.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site Work is continuing to finalise and agree the development agreement.
Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Concept designs and LinSig modelling completed. Information populating Full 
Business Case for LGF bid.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Concept designs completed. Information populating Full Business Case for LGF bid.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

First phase of housing at Eastern quarry of approx. 1,500 homes well progressed.  
Agreement in principle has been reached with developer and EDC on variations to 
planning consent for remainder of the site which will enable the development to come 
forward. 

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Extension to Ingress Park and secondary access onto London Rd finalised.  
Incorporation of Fastrack into the Northern Gateway development through Millpond 
and Phoenix Quarter agreed as part of planning consent.  Provision of Fastrack 
through Eastern Quarry and through tunnels in chalk spine to Bluewater being 
progressed.  Use of electric buses to be piloted with a view to their introduction in 
long term.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Design work continuing; anticipate planning application to be made in February 2018 
and tender works shortly thereafter. Main consultants have delayed the project by a 
few weeks due to lack of resources. Final design of the river works and flood 
modelling now under way, working with the EA and other partners.



2

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford This has now been established as part of the dartfordbusinessawards.com work.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition
This has been a very successful initiative fully supported by the Leader of the Council 
who takes a keen interest in the look and feel of the event. The 2017 event at 
Bluewater proved to be successful and attracted a lot of positive media coverage.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

This is an ongoing programme in partnership with local businesses and developers. 
The relocation of the market has been very successful and events, such as the 
Christmas Lights switch on have had great support.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q3 Update

Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Planning application for rugby club submitted just prior to Christmas. Detailed design 
and specification of the works under way; likely tender in spring 2018 working 
towards a completion early 2019.

Outline planning application for the remainder of the Stone Lodge site delayed due to 
substantial traffic modelling requested by KCC and HE. Now likely to submit in Spring 
2018.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 3, 19 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 160. 
Attendees were 70. 

There are currently 6 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 3, 70 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 673. Attendees were 294. There were 
17 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough.  In quarter 3, 16 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 96. 
Attendees were 56.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 3, 58 people were engaged with the 



3

programme. 32 of these completed the course of which 17 achieved a weight loss of 
>5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. 23 families 
have been booked to start. 15 of these families completed a minimum of 7 sessions 
and 19 families completed the full 10 sessions. 

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

In terms of Healthy Workplaces, this is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend 
and is being promoted at networking meetings. In quarter 3, 4 businesses have been 
pre-assessed.  As Kent County Council are no longer able to use the wellbeing 
charter from December 2017, this has resulted in having to notify all businesses 
about the change-over and how they would like to progress.    

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

Opportunities for organisations to apply for funding continue through Salute to Youth 
and Community Grant.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer

Ongoing monitoring of the contract continues with quarterly updates and reports in 
addition to specific project meetings and site inspections. Recent works completed 
include up grading in various areas of the facility with LED lighting and the addition of 
additional privacy screens within the female wet change area, with other works under 
development and an annual report is reported to Members via Scrutiny.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The Council is working with the What If...? Gallery to curate a series of exhibitions in 
the Sir Peter Blake Gallery, which will include a summer exhibition open to all 
residents and an exhibition by Extended Diploma students from North Kent College.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year A number of events are being planned for 2018, including the Steam Fair, St Georges 
Day and Dartford Festival.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Green space continues to be delivered within the major developments as the 
schemes are built out, including at Eastern Quarry, The Bridge and St Clements 
Lakes.  New open space to be provided at Northern Gateway as well as improved 
access to the Mill Pond, River Darent and Dartford Fresh Marshes.  The emerging 
masterplan for the Stone Lodge development includes predominantly open space on 
the site which is to be laid out for informal recreation.



4

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

The Council has now been advised that whilst the One Public Estate bid has been 
successful, the award would now be by way of a repayable grant rather than a 
straight forward grant as per the bid submission. This would mean that the funding 
would need to be repaid within a three year time period. A repayable grant would 
provide little benefit to the project - the conditions attached to the funding would be 
onerous such that detailed monitoring reports would need to be prepared on the 
progress of the project, whilst the fact that the funding would have to be repaid would 
not address the actual funding gap for the project. After lengthy discussions, it has 
therefore been decided that there is no merit in accepting the funding. In the 
meantime, Muse Developments have shared initial plans with the CCG and 
discussions are ongoing regarding the delivery of the health hub.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q3 Update

Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

The Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2014 provides powers to designate a 
geographical area to stop individuals or groups committing ASB in a public space. 
Following Cabinet approval, a PSPO was instituted for the Town Centre including the 
Westgate car park which, following a 6 week statutory period allowing for any public 
appeal process, went ‘live’ from 6th November 2017. The first month of the PSPO 
saw an ‘education’ based approach from DBC officers and the Police towards 
‘offenders’ as an alternative to FPN enforcement. New signage has been erected in 
the Town Centre which has, essentially, replaced the old Designated Public Place 
Order (under old legislation) signage, which expired October 2017. The other PSPO 
which is being considered is at Crossways Boulevard, Greenhithe to deal with the 
‘Boy Racer’ problems.

CPW and CPN's are being issued regularly and appropriately by Officers from 
Enforcement and Regulatory Services, Housing and Environmental Health.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

The Community Safety Unit (CSU) continues to deliver successful outcomes 
alongside the Council’s primary partner, Kent Police, as well as other services within 
DBC and outside agencies such as KCC (Community Wardens) and Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service. The Community Safety Manager has bid successfully to the Police 



5

and Crime Commissioner for several ASB projects and initiatives and attends several 
multi-agency fora concerned with ASB in the Borough.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

The inspection programme continues to be worked through by the Commercial Team 
officers. The high risk inspections due will be completed as a priority. Lower risk 
premises programme is running behind schedule due to sickness absence and the 
team carrying a hard to fill vacancy for over a year.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The new combined post of Licensing Compliance and Enforcement Officer came into 
being in April 2017. Since this time the post holder has made a significant impact in 
terms of gleaning licensing renewal fees for relevant premises and carrying out joint 
visits and operations with the Police. There has been very favourable feedback from 
both Police and service users.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

This initiative is now well underway in terms of the new style test for both Hackney 
and Private Hire drivers. This test involves the essential issues of 'safeguarding' in 
the widest sense and also issues concerned with the prevention of terrorism and 
radicalisation. The new test is all computer based and strict integrity measures are in 
place. There has not been much uptake from Private Hire Operators to become 
involved in the scheme to date which is disappointing. However, the new measures 
have won praise from the likes of TFL and the Police.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

The Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) scheme has gone from strength to strength 
over the last 18 months or so with 68 members from the business community and 
around 115 users of the DTAC computer system. The Police have played their part in 
continuing with a dedicated Town Centre Police Officer, which is essential for the 
scheme to work effectively. DBC has continued with its commitment to CCTV for both 
the day and night time Town Centre economies. The new arrangements maintain 
CCTV services ‘in house’ with a more intelligence led approach as to when cameras 
will be physically monitored, and have been ‘live’ since April 1st 2017.



6

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q3 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract Awaiting a formal decision on the outcome of the Big Bin Vote 3. 

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as the Council’s enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
December 2017 6,336 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in 
the borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few local authorities within Kent to have introduced this. Up until December 
2017, there have been 35 FPN’s for minor fly tips served by DBC Enforcement 
Officers (not Kingdom).

In terms of Fly Tip investigations DBC have an impressive 60% positive outcome / 
disposal rate.

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

Volunteer scheme is up and running, equipment to facilitate volunteer litter picking 
has been purchased. A number of groups have been established.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

Design of scheme being progressed by Highways England.  Submission of 
application due late 2018, with decision in 2020.  If private finance route is followed, 
construction to start 2023 with completion in 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Boiler works completed but lighting postponed for 2018/19.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

Air quality continues to be monitored as determined by government requirements. 
The majority of air pollution is caused by vehicles on the major roads in the Borough.



7

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q3 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

New build phase 1 progressing well, with sites for phase 2 currently being identified.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 On target to achieve this ambition with 105 confirmed at 1/1/18.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

Primary School has opened at the Castle Hill development in Eastern Quarry.  Other 
community facilities including further schools and health facilities are agreed through 
the S106 and will be brought forward as the development proceeds. Primary School 
agreed and being progressed on the Ebbsfleet Green development.  Primary school 
incorporated within Northern Gateway development.  Land has been reserved, 
academy identified to bring the school forward and planning application expected 
shortly.  Health hub proposals being discussed as part of the development on the 
former Co-op site in Hythe St.  Negotiations taking place to secure primary School on 
the St James' Lane Pit site.

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

Community Grant for 2017/18 was launched in October, resulting in 17 awards being 
made. Salute to Youth 2017/18 is ongoing and grants have been awarded to 5 
organisations so far this financial year.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light Programme has been drawn up, subject to budget approval.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

The Council is working with HLF to bring the Museum to the point where a realistic 
bid could be made. This work is concentrating on cataloguing.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote 74,276 parliamentary electors on register at 1/12/17 



8

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q3 Update
Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Work continuing on individual projects. 

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working is being trialled in two departments within the Council for a period of six 
months (one in internal services and one in external services).  Feedback on 
successes and concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling out further.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Budget review for 2018/19 completed - budget approval in February.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs Majority of 2017/18 programme now complete.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Kent pilot agreed by government. Full adoption of 100% scheme likely to be slower. 
The government are looking to roll out a 75% scheme in 2020/21.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

A report went to the GAC on 30 November 2017 proposing 19 wards (an increase 
from the current 17 wards). These would be a mix of one, two and three member 
wards. GAC agreed the report and consequently this was submitted to the Local 
Government Boundary Commission (LGBCE). The LGBCE have now issued their 
recommendations proposing 20 wards. The LGBCE are currently consulting on these 
proposals with the consultation ending on 9 April 2018. Changes to the ward 
boundaries will come into effect from the May 2019 Elections. The proposed changes 
to the ward boundaries have in turn triggered a Community Governance Review 
which will look at the parish warding arrangements. The terms of reference for this 
review have now been published setting out the scope and timetable for the review. It 
is proposed that any changes resulting from this review will also be implemented with 
effect from the May 2019 Elections.

 



1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q3 2017/18

Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure 
Levy income £2,061,024 £66,196 £185,089 £392,687 £643,972  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development 
since April 2014. During quarter 3 of 2017/18, payments have been made by 
development at both residential and commercial sites. Payments can rise or fall 
from quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement of 
consented development. 15% of the revenue generated from CIL liable 
developments in a local area, will be passed to town/parish councils and applied to 
projects in local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of the total CIL revenue 
will be used for administrative costs. In December 2017 Cabinet resolved that no 
CIL allocations would be made during the financial year 2018/19, due to identified 
potential infrastructure project plans not being sufficiently advanced. However, this 
situation will be kept under review.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18 Target Note

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Overall business birth rate 740
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  The Business Demography data set refers to new business registrations as 

business births. Latest available figures show that there were 740 business births 



2

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18 Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

in 2016 which is up 0.68% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update for 2017 is due at the end of November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that have ceased to 
trade (identified through de-registration of the administrative units, that is, VAT and 
PAYE) as business deaths. Latest available figures show that there were 495 
business deaths in 2016, which is up 25.31% from the previous year. In Kent 
overall (KCC area), the business death rate in 2016 was 7,325. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due at the end of November 2018.

District wide 
unemployment rate 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.1% 1.1%  

There were 770 unemployed people in the Borough in December 2017, which 
represents an unemployment rate of 1.1%. There has been no change in the 
number of unemployed people and the unemployment rate since the previous 
month. In Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in December 2017 was 
1.8%.

Total monthly Town Centre 
footfall 6,226,617 1,816,413 1,993,454 1,455,695 5,265,562  Town Centre footfall has remained generally stable over the last 12 months but 

has seen a gradual decline in the last 3 years.

Number of new homes 
completed (April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
 

For the second year running, there has been a consistently high delivery level of 
around 1,000 homes, following the previous 9 year period which averaged 477 
new homes per annum. Following the slow delivery in the recession and post-
recession years, these higher levels of delivery are putting the Council back on 
track to achieve the Core Strategy targets.

The highest number of homes were delivered at the Northern Gateway (272 
homes), and at The Bridge (243 homes), as well as St Clements Lakes (176 
homes).

There were 214 homes delivered in the EDC area of Dartford, on the Eastern 
Quarry and Ebbsfleet Green sites, comprising 18% of delivery in Dartford as a 
whole. Delivery levels in the EDC area are expected to increase as construction 
activity on these two large sites gets into full swing.

The outlook for next year’s delivery looks positive, with the large sites continuing to 
deliver, a very healthy pipeline of sites with planning consent and an expected 
uplift of delivery in the EDC area.   High delivery levels are likely to be sustained 
into the future, barring major and unexpected economic circumstances, with build 
on some very large sites set to continue for a number of years into the future.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Total Fairfield 
Centre Visits

459,270 133,341 130,179 110,826 374,346  

Over the summer months we started to see Fairfield usage slowing down to 
become more stable in usages and membership growth in the last three months of 
2017. Membership has started to fall seeing membership drop from 3,261 to 3,118 
there are a few factors for this: time of the year membership slows down heading 
towards Christmas, the current climate of the general public being more reserved 
on their spend.  

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Average Number 
of Park Run Users

146 157 161 162 160  
The attendance figures remain steady, despite some of the runs being threatened 
with cancellation due to adverse and icy weather conditions. This event continues 
to attract volunteers to help and new runners to join in.

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Average Number 
of Junior Park Run Users

37 35 36 35 35  This event is maintaining its attendance figures during the colder winter months.

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Princes Park 
Mini Pitch Users

179 45 37 56 138  
Income for this quarter is due to all the regular teams coming into the main part of 
their season, only stopping over the Christmas period and grass pitches becoming 
unplayable sometimes due to weather.

Percentage attendance at 
the Orchard Theatre (% of 
total seats available which 
are used)

61.33% 49% 54.67% 72.67% 58.78%  
Actual attendance figures are down, but the percentages remain the same as 
quarter 3 in 2016/17 due to the fact that some smaller audience events have been 
staged in the Auditorium and Restaurant. 

Number of local groups 
supported through 
Community Grant and 
other grant schemes

34 4 5 22 31  

In quarter 3 there were 4 grants awarded under the DBC Community Fund and 1 
organisation was awarded a grant under the Salute to Youth Scheme. The 
Community Grant for 2017/18 was launched in October and awarded grants to 17 
organisations.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for 
men

Latest value 
is for 2013-

Not 
measured for 

Not 
measured for 

Not 
measured for  Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 9.4 years 

lower for men in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 



4

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

15 – see 
note

Quarters Quarters Quarters N/A areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.7 years lower for men. This 
is an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Life expectancy gap for 
women

Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters N/A
 

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 4.5 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Percentage of obese 
children in Year 6

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 21.1% of children in Year 6 (10-11 
year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the 
previous year where 19.6% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) for 2015-16, the figure is 18.7%. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update is due in 2018.

Percentage of adults 
achieving at least 150 
minutes of physical 
exercise per week

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16  - see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 63.1% of adults were physically 
active in the Borough. This indicator is defined as the percentage of adults (aged 
19+) that meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week). This indicator is a replacement 
for the previous indicator reporting the number of adults (aged 16+) achieving at 
least 150 minutes of  physical activity per week. A new indicator was required as 
the source data for the superseded indicator has been discontinued (the Sport 
England Active People Survey has been replaced by the Active Lives Survey). 
Due to the change in methodology and the age range, this indicator cannot be 
compared to the previous indicator.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests 
instigated by CCTV this 
month

72 16 19 18 53  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last year.

Total number of arrests 
supported by CCTV this 
month

59 9 15 25 49  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last year.

Number of businesses 
supporting Dartford Town 209 97 108 115 320  The Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) scheme is recognised as being one of 

the best business crime partnerships in the country. Membership has remained 



5

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Against Crime (DTAC) stable which is impressive given the pressure on SME's and the sustainability of 
Town Centres. 

Number of Dartford Town 
Against Crime (DTAC) 
interventions against 
persistent offenders

22 2 4 5 11  

This is now part of the Community Protection Warning Scheme and is working well 
with both Police and DBC Community Safety Officers administering appropriate 
warning letters and actions against people who are not welcome in the town. Also 
Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN's) are expected to be issued to offenders who have 
breached the new Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) in the Town Centre and 
central park areas.

Number of Community 
Protection Warnings 
issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

104 84 110 298  
This process has been going well since its inception last year. Warnings have 
been consistently issued by Environmental Health, Housing and Community 
Safety Officers at Dartford Borough Council as well as our Police partners.

Number of Community 
Protection Notices issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

26 10 10 46  
This process has been going well since its inception last year. Notices have been 
consistently issued by Environmental Health, Housing and Community Safety 
Officers at Dartford Borough Council as well as our Police partners.

Number of Public Space 
Protection Order 
Enforcement Notices 
issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18 N/A N/A N/A N/A  

This is a new scheme (December 2017) so it is no surprise that no FPN's have 
been issued to date. There have, however, been several warnings given by 
Community Safety Officers and Police in accordance with legislative guidance.

Number of Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements 
issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

4 10 4 18  This is an exclusively Police matter, therefore it will no longer be reported on via 
the Council’s performance management system. 

Percentage of High risk 
(categories A & B) food 
hygiene inspections due 
and completed 
(cumulative)

100% 63.64% 81.82% 96.43% 96.43% 100% 96% 27 inspections out of the 28 due. One could not be accessed. Inspected in 
next month.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-
social behaviour incidents 
in the Borough by the 
Police

2,982 666 575 506 1,747  Anti-social behaviour has shown a steady increase but, again, comparisons are 
unreliable due to system reporting changes.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Total number of crimes 
reported in the Borough 10,098 2,923 2,980 3,196 9,099  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office crime counting rules, 
(effectively making year on year comparisons impossible) this will no longer be 
reported on via the Council’s performance management system. The difference 
between crimes reported to the Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime 
survey are markedly different.  A full explanation has been submitted to both the 
Dartford Borough Council Community Safety Partnership and Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee.

Number of criminal 
damage offences reported 
in the Borough

1,652 399 345 397 1,141  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office crime counting rules, 
(effectively making year on year comparisons impossible) this will no longer be 
reported on via the Council’s performance management system. The difference 
between crimes reported to the Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime 
survey are markedly different.  A full explanation has been submitted to both the 
Dartford Borough Council Community Safety Partnership and Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of 
Nitrogen Dioxide levels 
from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations 
in the Borough 
(micrograms per m2)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

38.6 37.5 51.4 42.5  
Average measured Nitrogen Dioxide level (unratified) is above the national 
objective level of 40ug/m3. The three Air Quality Stations are located in areas of 
known poor air quality near to pollution sources (traffic).  

Number of households 
taking part in energy 
efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough

571 39 31 100 170  End of year performance likely to exceed 300.

Number of households 
taking part in green bin 
service

6,141 5,640 5,804 5,830 5,758 6,000 We are struggling to increase the number of customers but there will be more 
advertising and promotion in 2018.



7

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Number of flytipping 
incidents 159 591 745 557 1,893 10 Reported value now includes all incidents (not just large ones) so target will need 

to be revised.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 17 9 15 41 10 The number of incidents remains very low.

Percentage of household 
waste going to landfill 1.7% 1.4% 1.1% 1.2% 1.2%  The amount of waste sent to landfill remains very low.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the 
housing register 1,064 1,094 1,110 1,114 1,114  The number of households on the housing register is staying relatively consistent.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 90 97 99 99  

The number of households in temporary accommodation has held between 90 and 
100 since April and continues to put pressure on GF Expenditure. Moving forward 
the team is continually looking to mitigate impact but there appears to be no 
immediate respite or resolution in sight with the introduction of the Homeless 
Reduction Act on likely to increase the pressure. Changes to the way the homeless 
prevention service is going to be delivered post April 2018 is ongoing but the 
overspend on the TA budget will be significant.

Number of households 
where homelessness has 
been prevented

50 21 19 19 59  The Housing Options team have already prevented more homeless cases in 
2017/18 than we did last year.

Number of service 
requests completed for 
Private Sector Housing

429 64 55 59 178 187 On target to beat the performance for 2016/17.

Percentage of repairs 
completed in time 90.92% 85.16% 85.56% 90.37% 86.95% 98.00%

December 2017 performance up to 94.17% but overall average yearly performance 
will not recover to target levels due to poor performance in the earlier part of the 
year. The ongoing management improvement plan is working. A report on this 
performance indicator is being reported to Scrutiny in early February 2018.

Average time taken to re-let 20.41 21.56 24.04 19.31 21.43 20 December 2017 performance was back on target but due to the issues in the 
summer of a high number of supported housing voids that were difficult to let and 



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

local authority housing (in 
calendar days) (EXCL 
major works)

properties that required extensive works the average yearly performance is just 
below the target set. It is anticipated however that the target will be achieved by the 
end of the quarter 4.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable 
homes delivered (gross) 239 44 31 30 105 105 January 2018 figure at 105 so now back on target and likely to beat performance in 

2016/17.

Number of new homes 
completed (April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of service 
requests raised for Private 
Sector Housing

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 62 63 61 186  Volumes as expected.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned 
into occupation or 
demolished

101 16 47 22 85 75 Above target and exceeded 2016/17 performance.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year 
Business Rates collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 31.2% 56.2% 83.9% 83.9% 83.8%
In-year collection rate is currently 0.1% above target at the end of quarter 3. 
Expectation is that this level of performance will remain the same for quarter4/whole 
financial year.

Number of phone calls 
received by the Council 577,329 129,551 131,994 118,545 380,090  

There has been a similar decline to last quarter in telephone contact of just under 
9%, from 130,228 to 118,545, compared to the same quarter of 2016/17.This again 
is likely to be due, in part, to the increase in issues that can be resolved through the 



9

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Dartford Borough Council website.

Percentage of in-year 
Council Tax collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 29.4% 56.7% 84% 84% 84.6%

The decrease of 0.6% in the in-year collection rate is primarily down to a significant 
increase in the Tax Base and the consequential increase in collectable debit. Any 
new properties created since April 2017 will have been given instalments up to 
February 2018, and possibly March 2018 as well. This means that despite in-year 
collection being down at the end of quarter 3, the additional income projected to be 
collected in quarter 4 will have a positive impact on the overall in-year collection rate 
at the end of the financial year.

Average number of DBC 
working days lost due to 
short term (<4 weeks) 
illness per employee

4.39 0.58 0.71 1.06 2.35 3.38 There has been a higher level of sickness absence in quarter 3 as expected due to 
seasonal bugs.  Overall sickness absence for the year so far is below target.

Average number of DBC 
working days lost due to 
long term (>4 weeks) 
illness per employee

2.38 0.44 0.9 0.7 2.04 2.25 Overall long term sickness absence for the year is below target.

Percentage of supplier 
payments made within 30 
days of receipt of invoice

99.02% 98.07% 99.43% 99.92% 99.21% 99% This has been a very strong quarter with only 2 late invoices.

Average time taken to 
process a new claim for 
Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 20 21 22 22 23
Performance is currently ahead of target. At the end of quarter 3 in 2016/17, the 
average time taken to process a new claim was 30 days, which is 8 days more than 
the current level of performance.

Rent Collection and 
Arrears Recovery - rents 
collected as a proportion of 
rents owed.

97.67% 92.41% 95.86% 97.66% 97.66% 97% Cumulative total heading towards annual target. Prediction is that the end of 
2017/18 position will exceed target and last year’s performance.

Number of visits to DBC 
website 821,974 214,590 210,431 184,543 609,564  A high number of visits to the planning pages.

 





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The proposed Work Plan for the Policy Overview Committee is 
attached at Appendix A.

3.2. Gerard Sammon, Interim Chief Executive of Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust, will be attending this meeting in order to report on the work 
of the Trust and its future direction.

3.3. Mike Gilbert, Company Secretary & Assistant Accountable Officer, from 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group will 
be attending this meeting to provide an update on the future plans and 
strategies for health provision across the Borough.

3.4. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on the 19 September 2017 
an item on planning related parking standards has been included on 
this meeting’s agenda.

3.5. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 12 December 2017, the 
planned visit by the Director for Public Health has been rescheduled for 
December 2018.

3.6. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 12 December 2017, a 
further update on welfare reform has been scheduled for June 2018.

3.7. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 12 December 2017, 
consideration of the next Dartford Preventative Health Projects – 
Annual Report, together with a review of Dartford Health Inequalities, 
has been scheduled for December 2018.

3.8. Consideration of the following additional areas, which were put forward 
at the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017, have yet to be 
scheduled:

 Channel shift policy
 Communication and engagement strategy
 Business Advice website



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

3.9. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW WORK PLAN

March 2018 June 2018 September 2018 December 2018

Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust Pharmacy Services Performance Monitoring Kent Public Health

Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Fly-Tipping and Bulk Waste 
Collection Review

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects - Annual Report 
2017/18

Dartford Borough Parking 
Review Air Quality Review Update Dartford Health Inequality 

Review

Performance Monitoring Welfare Reform Update Performance Monitoring

Policy Overview Annual 
Report 2017 - 2018

Performance Monitoring




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 12 December 2017
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 12 December 2017
	Action Points APPENDIX A

	8 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
	9 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group
	10 Dartford Borough Parking Overview
	Parking Review APPENDIX A
	Structure Bookmarks
	Artifact
	Artifact
	Evidence Base Policy Guidance: National & Regional Core Strategy Parking standards SPD 
	Artifact
	Parking for people with impaired mobility and covered cycle parking close to entrance to building, overlooked and benefiting from overhead lighting. Bollards used to prevent parking on the pavement. 
	Artifact
	Artifact
	Artifact
	Artifact
	Artifact
	Car Parking All developments 1 space per 20 m² gross   
	Goods Vehicles 
	Car Parking 
	Employees 
	Customers 
	Restaurants & Cafes (see Note 2) 
	Transport Cafes (see Note 3) 
	Car Parking Houses in Multiple Occupation 
	1:57,774@ A4 Legend Town Centre Urban Suburban Edge / Village / Rural 
	Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of the Controller of Her Majestys Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2011 Unauthorised reproduction Infringes Crown Copyright and May lead to prosecution or civil Proceedings Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2011 X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\Town_Centre_Edge_Of_Centre_Diagram_20110929\01_Project_Files\Town Centre_sub Rural_A4_Land_20110929.mxd 



	11 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX B

	12 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A




